

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Journal of Hazardous Materials

Journal of Hazardous Materials 153 (2008) 1-21

www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Review

Naturally occurring asbestos—A recurring public policy challenge

R.J. Lee, B.R. Strohmeier, K.L. Bunker*, D.R. Van Orden

RJ Lee Group, Inc., 350 Hochberg Road, Monroeville, PA 15146, United States

Received 22 May 2007; received in revised form 16 November 2007; accepted 19 November 2007 Available online 28 November 2007

Abstract

The potential environmental hazards and associated public health issues related to exposure to respirable dusts from the vicinity of natural in-place asbestos deposits (commonly referred to as naturally occurring asbestos, NOA) have gained the regulatory and media spotlight in many areas around the United States, such as Libby, MT, Fairfax County, VA, and El Dorado Hills, CA, among others. NOA deposits may be present in a variety of geologic formations. It has been suggested that airborne asbestos may be released from NOA deposits, and absent appropriate engineering controls, may pose a potential health hazard if these rocks are crushed or exposed to natural weathering and erosion or to human activities that create dust. The issue that needs to be addressed at a policy level is the method of assessing exposures to elongated rock fragments ubiquitous in dust clouds in these same environments and the associated risk. Elongated rock fragments and single crystal minerals present in NOA have been construed by some as having attributes, including the health effects, of asbestos fibers. However, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (MSHA), and the Consumer Products Safety Commission (CPSC) found that the scientific evidence did not support this assumption. As in many environmental fields of study, the evidence is often disputed. Regulatory policy is not uniform on the subject of rock fragments, even within single agencies. The core of the issue is whether the risk parameters associated with exposures to commercial asbestos can or should be applied to rock fragments meeting an arbitrary set of particle dimensions used for counting asbestos fibers. Inappropriate inclusion of particles or fragments results in dilution of risk and needless expenditure of resources. On the other hand, inappropriate exclusion of particles or fragments may result in increased and unnecessary risk. Some of the fastest growing counties in the United States are in areas where NOA is known to exist and therefore this issue takes on

This ongoing national dilemma has raised public and business concerns. There has been continuing political and scientific debate and widespread miscommunication over perceived versus actual health risks, the validity of various analytical sampling and testing methods, the questionable necessity and escalating costs of remediation procedures, and the combined negative impact on numerous commercial and public interests. Thus, conflicting research and regulatory positions on the distinctions between and hazards of true asbestos and ordinary rock fragments is all that is presently available to the public until the differing scientific communities and government agencies arrive at a consensus on these issues. The risk assessment methodology and the analytical technology needed to support inferences drawn from existing research are available, but have not been organized and implemented in the manner needed to resolve the NOA controversy.

There should exist nationally adopted and peer-reviewed NOA standards (developed jointly by the scientific community, health risk professionals, and government regulators) that establish: (1) a scientific basis for risk evaluation and assessment of NOA and rock fragments; (2) accepted analytical protocols for determining if NOA actually exists in a given area and for separating NOA from related non-asbestos rock fragments and single crystal minerals; and (3) effective public policies for managing NOA, minimizing potential hazards, and protecting public health. This article will review some of the key issues involved with the current NOA debate, propose improved analytical methodologies, describe potential solutions for dealing with NOA, and outline the benefits to be gained by creating a practical national NOA public policy. © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Naturally occurring asbestos (NOA); Amphibole; Public policy; Health risk assessment; Mixed mineral dust

Abbreviations: AHERA, Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act; APCD, Air Pollution Control Division; ASTM, American Society for Testing and Materials; ATCM, airborne toxic control measure; ATSDR, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry; BLM, Bureau of Land Management; CARB, California Air Resources Board; CCMA, Clear Creek Management Area; CPSC, Consumer Products Safety Commission; EPA, Environmental Protection Agency; FESEM, field emission scanning electron microscopy; HEI-AR, Health Effects Institute-Asbestos Research; IRIS, Integrated Risk Information System; ISO, International Organization for Standardization; MSHA, Mine Safety and Health Administration; NAS, National Academy of Sciences; NIOSH, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health; NIST, National Institute of Standards and Technology; NOA, naturally occurring asbestos; NYC, New York City; OHV, off-highway vehicle; OSHA, Occupational Safety and Health Administration; P&CAM, physical and chemical analytical methods; PCM, phase contrast microscopy; PLM, polarized light microscopy; SEM, scanning electron microscopy; SUV, sport utility vehicle; TEM, transmission electron microscopy; µm, micrometers; USGS, United States Geological Survey.

Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 724 325 1776x1954; fax: +1 724 733 1799.

E-mail address: klbunker@rjlg.com (K.L. Bunker).

0304-3894/\$ - see front matter © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.11.079

Contents

1.	Introduction	2		
2.	2. The NOA debate			
	2.1. Science versus public policy	3		
	2.2. What should be done about NOA?	5		
3.	Limitations of the processes used to estimate the risk of exposure	6		
4.	Sampling methodology	8		
5.	Current methods for asbestos identification			
	5.1. Analysis of airborne fibers in mixed mineral dust	10		
	5.2. Analysis of bulk samples of mixed mineral dust	13		
6.	The impact of NOA on the United States	13		
	6.1. Libby, MT	14		
	6.2. El Dorado County, CA	14		
	6.3. New Idria, CA	15		
	6.4. Clear Creek management area, CA	15		
	6.5. Fairfax County, VA	16		
	6.6. Sparta, NJ and similar mining communities	16		
7.	Benefits of a national NOA public policy	17		
	Acknowledgements	17		
	References	17		

1. Introduction

Asbestos is a generic commercial term given collectively to a group of six fibrous hydrated silicate minerals that occur in sufficient quantity and quality to be mined and processed for industrial and commercial applications. In this paper, we use the term asbestos to refer to the asbestiform habit of amphibole and serpentine minerals, without regard to their commercial potential. Despite its many desirable material properties, asbestos poses a serious potential health risk resulting from occupational exposure to ore-grade asbestos during certain mining, milling, manufacturing, installation, and post-use abatement activities. Asbestos typically occurs as fiber bundles, commonly with splayed ends, that are composed of extremely long and thin individual fibers that are flexible and can be easily separated from one another. The term "asbestiform" is used to describe the unusual crystallization habit (the actual shape assumed by a crystal or aggregate of crystals) of minerals when the crystals form as thin, hair-like fibers such as that which occurs with the six asbestos minerals [1]. Asbestiform describes a special type of fibrosity. The definition of asbestiform is often augmented to include a statement on the special properties of asbestiform fibers, i.e., shape, enhanced strength, diameter-dependent strength, flexibility, durability, and a unique smooth surface morphology [1]. Hence, asbestiform minerals are fibrous, but not all fibrous minerals are asbestiform. With amphiboles, however, the distinction between asbestiform and non-asbestiform varieties is being questioned even when examining samples with a light microscope. The vast majority of amphiboles occur as ordinary rocks that range in growth habit from blocky to acicular. Amphibole fragments separated, broken, or cleaved from these rocks during weathering, crushing, or grinding can occur in a variety of shapes ranging from blocky to prismatic to acicular [1]. Asbestos fibers on the other hand attain their shape by growth, not cleavage. However, long, thin "cleavage fragments," while rare, may resemble asbestos fibers [1]. Regardless, prismatic and acicular crystals or cleavage fragments do not have the strength, flexibility, or other unique properties of asbestiform fibers. Cleavage fragments can be distinguished from asbestos fibers by using polarized light microscopy (PLM) or high resolution tools like scanning electron microscopy (SEM) by their tendency to form particles with stepped sides and relatively small length to width ratios. In addition, unlike asbestos bundles, cleavage fragments do not display splayed ends. Cleavage fragments almost never show curvature. It should also be noted that cleavage fragments cannot form asbestos fibers by any type of mechanical force or weathering and asbestos fibers do not form cleavage fragments but only form finer fibers when broken apart.

Over the past several decades, the six asbestos minerals that have been mined, processed, and regulated in the United States include one serpentine and five amphibole minerals. Chrysotile asbestos, the only fibrous member of the serpentine mineral group, has been the most commonly used form of asbestos and accounts for approximately 90-95% of the worldwide historic asbestos production [1,2]. The five varieties of amphibole fibers that have been used commercially are crocidolite (riebeckite asbestos), amosite (cummingtonite-grunerite asbestos), anthophyllite asbestos, tremolite asbestos, and actinolite asbestos, see Table 1 [1–3]. While the asbestos minerals exhibit many desirable properties and were widely used, a conclusive association between asbestos exposure and lung cancer was not demonstrated until the late 1950s and early 1960s [4-6], prompting regulation of the six asbestos minerals by the Federal government [7].

Naturally occurring asbestos (NOA) is the general allencompassing name given to asbestos minerals found in-place in their natural state. The term NOA is typically used in areas where the asbestos minerals are found in such low quantities that mining and commercial exploitation are not feasible. While large commercial deposits of asbestos minerals are rare, small non-economic occurrences of asbestiform minerals are more common. The link between asbestos minerals and disease

Table 1	
The regulated asbestos minerals	

Regulatory name	Mineral name	Mineral group	Ideal chemical formula
Chrysotile	Chrysotile	Serpentine	Mg ₃ Si ₂ O ₅ (OH) ₄
Tremolite asbestos	Tremolite	Amphibole	Ca ₂ Mg ₅ Si ₈ O ₂₂ (OH) ₂
Actinolite asbestos	Actinolite	Amphibole	$Ca_2(Mg,Fe^{2+})_5Si_8O_{22}(OH)_2$
Anthophyllite asbestos	Anthophyllite	Amphibole	$Mg_7Si_8O_{22}(OH)_2$
Crocidolite	Riebeckite	Amphibole	$Na_2Fe^{2+}_{3}Fe^{3+}_{2}Si_8O_{22}(OH)_{2}$
Amosite	Cummingtonite-Grunerite	Amphibole	$(Mg, Fe^{2+})_7 Si_8 O_{22}(OH)_2$

has generated fear of public exposure when small quantities of fibrous silicate minerals, or NOA, are discovered. There is a high probability of finding amphibole and serpentine minerals in many areas of the United States. Amphibole and serpentine minerals tend to occur in metamorphic, igneous, and ultramafic rock terrains, which are major constituents of approximately 30-40% of the continental United States. Under specific geological conditions, these minerals can form into long, thin fibers that may be classified as asbestos or NOA. In addition to the six regulated asbestos minerals, approximately 400 known minerals (including approximately 100 silicate and aluminosilicate species) may also occur in fibrous form [8,9]. Fig. 1 is a map of the United States showing regions where igneous or metamorphic rocks (green) can be found as well as the most current geographic distribution of asbestiform minerals (yellow) based on published literature [3,10,11]. The U.S. Census Bureau has projected that the United States population will surpass 360 million by the year 2030 with considerable growth projections in those states having significant incidences of ultramafic, igneous, and metamorphic rock formations (i.e., CA, AZ, NV, OR, WA, VA, NC, etc.) [12]. In addition, the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) has recently released a map showing considerable overlap between the 100 fastest growing counties in the United States and known areas of NOA [13].

Therefore, more and more construction and community land development, including homes, offices, shopping centers, grocery stores, schools, road service facilities, and other human dust generating activities, will be taking place in previously unpopulated areas with the potential for NOA occurrences and potential airborne asbestos environmental health hazards.

2. The NOA debate

2.1. Science versus public policy

The NOA controversy arose because commercial asbestos minerals can also occur as elongated fragments in their nonasbestos form, in which case they would be referred to using the mineral names shown in Table 1 without the asbestos suffix. Elongated rock fragments and single crystal minerals present in NOA have been construed by some as having attributes, including the health effects, of asbestos fibers [14]. The current ambiguity in the definitions and health effects of asbestos and non-asbestos amphiboles has led to confusion about what particles should be counted as asbestos in the optical and electron microscope methods used to analyze asbestos. The issue is complicated by several factors; including: (1) only the five amphibole minerals commercially used are regulated as asbestos, while the



Fig. 1. Occurrences of amphibole minerals and asbestos in the contiguous United States. Green shaded areas illustrate regions of igneous and metamorphic rock terrains. Yellow dots represent possible locations where asbestiform minerals may occur according to the 2000 United States Geological Survey (USGS) database.

non-asbestos forms of these minerals are not; (2) other nonregulated amphiboles occur in the asbestiform habit, and in that form, likely present similar health risks as commercial asbestos minerals; and (3) an increasingly casual definition of asbestos fibers. Recently, the informal definition of asbestos has even gone as far as to classify any amphibole with an aspect ratio of 3:1 as asbestos. In a recent study of NOA in El Dorado Hills, California, this informal asbestos definition resulted in a significant portion of minerals to be classified as asbestos that were subsequently identified by another group as magnesiohornblende, a mineral with no known asbestos-related health effects [15].

Because asbestos is a recognized carcinogen [16], and deposits of amphiboles are widespread throughout the country, science and public policy are deeply entwined on the subject of NOA. In order to protect worker and public health, there should be rational public policy and strict regulation regarding potential harmful exposure to asbestos, whether it comes from handling commercially produced asbestos products or occurs in the natural environment [2,8,17–23]. Conversely, the misclassification of innocuous mineral dust, such as asbestos, generates widespread fear and needless waste of precious resources. Current evaluations of the health risks associated with exposure to non-asbestos minerals suggests that these minerals are innocuous or at worst pose risks that are much lower than those posed by commercially produced asbestos fibers, but no consensus on this issue has been reached [24,25].

Recently, the potential environmental hazards and related public health issues related to NOA deposits that have been exposed or disturbed during construction activities have been the subject of widespread concern that at times has reached near-hysterical levels. As in other circumstances, the public perception of and public policy for asbestos are largely driven by the popular media. Public fear of asbestos in the United States has undoubtedly had a major impact on regulations and restrictions associated with asbestos use and have led to many public misconceptions of the hazards related to asbestos.

One example of a common public misconception concerning asbestos is that occupants in asbestos-containing buildings may be subject to respiratory ailments. As a result, it has been estimated that by 1995 alone more than \$50-100 billion had been spent on removal of asbestos-containing materials from schools, university buildings, public and commercial buildings, and private homes [8,21,22]. Unwarranted removal activity continues to this day, encouraged by those who profit from the abatement business, despite the publication of an advisory document in 1990 by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) that states most asbestos removal is unnecessary and even counterproductive both in terms of health protection and costs [26]. As an example of unwarranted removal, the New York City (NYC) school system responded to pressure from parent groups and spent nearly \$100 million for asbestos removal in public schools [20-22]. During this time, many schools remained closed and parents were subjected to a massive media coverage that promoted the idea that school children might develop asbestos-related cancer in the future. However, based on fiberin-air measurements conducted elsewhere, the calculated risk

to NYC school children, using the most pessimistic models (or worst case scenario), was found to be less than six excess cancer deaths per million lifetimes, which is equivalent to smoking less than a dozen cigarettes in a lifetime [21]. This incident prompted 17 world-renowned experts on the subject of asbestos to issue a public statement criticizing the city's unnecessary and costly actions [19]. This group of scientists stressed that the public's fears could have been substantially allayed through education and that science, not unreasonable emotion, should guide both the administrative and the public response in these types of situations. Similar events fueled by public reaction include past media reports on purported asbestos in children's play sand and crayons [27,28]. In each instance, a report was made by a laboratory or "expert" that amphibole asbestos was observed in these products. Following the revelation and subsequent national publicity, tests on these products were performed by a number of scientists, including an Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) laboratory that showed there was no asbestos in these products, only non-asbestos mineral particles [29-31]. Little to no publicity followed these findings, leaving the public completely misinformed.

The examples cited above illustrate the need to avoid excess panic and rushed judgment over possible asbestos issues and the necessity of conveying the best possible scientific data to a concerned public. The general public's response to environmental risks like NOA is extremely variable. The general public has not exhibited concern regarding urban development on floodplains, near the ocean, and on active earthquake faults [8]. However, the general population has shown great concern for a variety of harmful substances found in our environment, such as lead [32-34] and mercury [35,36], as well as asbestos [22]. Risk imposed upon us is viewed much differently than risk we willingly choose to live with. The chosen risks of being killed by activities such as smoking and motor vehicle accidents are far greater than the risk imposed from exposure to asbestos [8,22]. However, we choose the former risks and the latter are imposed upon us. The inclusion of a reasonable margin of safety in a public health standard is scientifically justifiable, but the size of the margin of safety is a social and moral value. The Code of Federal Regulations states that acceptable exposure levels for toxins are concentrations to which the population may be exposed without adverse effects during a lifetime, or part of a lifetime, incorporating an adequate margin of safety [37]. This is an issue that puts the degree of risk imposed on the general public in direct competition with the degree of hardship imposed on commercial interests. Miscommunications can lead to unnecessary media hysteria and public alarm at one extreme to possible minimization of truly high risk environmental hazards at the other. Good public policies and regulatory practices must weigh the health risks of action and inaction as well as the associated financial costs. Environmental laws and regulations should be based on accepted scientific, engineering, and health principles. Scientists inform, but do not make the decisions as to acceptable risk. Scientists are obligated, however, to provide the best available data to the health and regulatory communities so that reasoned decisions can be made.

2.2. What should be done about NOA?

A national NOA public policy based on sound technical, scientific, and health standards is needed to ensure the proper use of land and natural resources while protecting the public. Standard evaluation programs that can determine acceptable land uses, risk associated with their use, and establish appropriate control measures need to be implemented. Such programs will ensure homeowners, schools, developers, product suppliers (i.e., mining and manufacturing companies), and construction companies that the building materials they are using and the sites they are building on are not asbestos contaminated. As before, progress in this endeavor must begin with a consensus on how to define and classify NOA and related elongated rock fragments. This also includes the evolution of appropriate testing methods to establish the safety of potential land development sites as well as the safety of sources of crushed stone and building materials. These goals can only be achieved by the accumulation, review, and debate of the best available knowledge by a panel of experts in a variety of scientific fields. Similar reviews were successfully implemented by the National Academy of Sciences (NAS) in 1984 [38] and the Health Effects Institute-Asbestos Research (HEI-AR) working groups in 1991 [39]. The NAS study investigated the health risks from non-occupational exposure to asbestos fibers. The HEI-AR group of experts examined the growing concern of human exposure to asbestos in public and commercial buildings. Both groups issued extensive reports that are now cited and referenced in most asbestos related research [38,39]. Such a panel could have a major impact on the ultimate goal of ensuring public health and safety in the most cost effective manner.

The responsibility of such a panel needs to include a charge to review the state-of-the-art in risk assessment and arrive at risk categories for classifying the hazards of airborne dust containing asbestos and elongated rock fragments. An understanding of the risk associated with asbestos and elongated rock fragments is important to properly protect the health of people living in proximity to construction zones or other dust generating activities. In risk assessment, it is important to characterize and count asbestos and rock fragments based on the properties that contribute to risk. Such research needs to achieve a consensus on the characteristics of asbestos that control risk and needs to be performed before designing analytical techniques and methods used to measure the particles of highest risk in mixed mineral dust environments.

The term "asbestos" has typically been defined and used in at least four different ways depending on the specific context [40]:

- commercial definitions designed to highlight the properties of asbestos that impart commercial value, such as high tensile strength, low thermal and electrical conductivity, high heat resistance, and high mechanical and chemical durability;
- 2. geologic definitions that distinguish asbestiform materials from non-asbestiform particles (i.e., cleavage fragments) based on their mechanism of formation;

- 3. regulatory definitions, generally for occupational settings, that distinguish the minerals to be regulated from those that are not; and
- 4. analytical definitions that provide laboratories and analysts with the guidelines required to characterize, distinguish, and count appropriate structures to determine their concentration.

Unfortunately, according to Berman [40], the definitions developed for the purposes described above have been inconsistent and none have succeeded as a definitive measure that can be used to accurately support risk assessment. This is because the existing definitions do not coincide sufficiently with the chemical and physical characteristics of asbestos that contribute to biological activity. Berman and Crump point out that extrapolation of risk estimates from one population to another require that the portion of the study population measured have the attributes determined to be associated with risk in the reference population [41]. Although much is now known, Berman contends that there are still controversies concerning the asbestos characteristics that contribute to biological activity [40]. Berman has also stated that it is important that these controversies be addressed in order to better define and regulate asbestos in a risk-based manner that is "demonstrably health protective while avoiding incorporation of conservative assumptions that are so overwhelmingly broad as to preclude the ability to distinguish potentially risky situations from those that are clearly not" [40].

The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) has recently authored a White Paper outlining a roadmap for scientific research necessary to address current controversies related to the definition of asbestos, appropriate analysis techniques for asbestos and valid risk assessment methods [14]. The purpose of this proposed research will be to develop improved worker policies and practices related to address the same types of scientific issues related to mixed mineral environments and the health effects of NOA on the public at large.

While the national NOA guidelines need to be based on valid scientific evidence, a national public policy cannot be implemented without action at the congressional and regulatory level. This will be a difficult task for regulatory agencies due to inconsistent policy standards within different regions of the same agency. Not only is consensus needed at the scientific level, but at the regulatory and legislative level as well. Therefore, the development and implementation of an NOA policy will depend on the collaborative effort of people with expertise in various disciplines including geology, mineralogy, analytical methodology, medicine, toxicology, epidemiology, industrial hygiene, economics, risk assessment, and social and political science. The major issues and unanswered questions at the heart of the growing debate concerning NOA are: (1) the limitations of the current methods used to estimate the risk of exposure; (2) whether the mineralogical distinction between NOA and rock fragments extends to their biological effects; (3) whether aspect ratio (length:width) is a meaningful descriptor of fibers having the highest potential risk of disease; (4) determination of the appropriate dimensional characteristics used to assess fiber risk; and (5) defined analytical methods that provide cost effective discrimination between asbestos fibers and rock fragments, and/or between high risk, moderate risk, and low risk habits or forms. These issues will be discussed in more detail below.

3. Limitations of the processes used to estimate the risk of exposure

Asbestos is classified as a carcinogen by state, federal, and international agencies and all six types of asbestos shown in Table 1 are considered hazardous [1-3,8,16]. Humans may be exposed to asbestos by breathing airborne asbestos fibers, which can be deposited deep into the lungs where they persist for long periods. Medical studies have shown there is a strong association between certain diseases (asbestosis, lung cancer, and mesothelioma) and asbestos exposure [1-3,8,16]. Asbestos diseases have long latency periods (10-40 years) and have been related to the dose a person breathes (a combination of concentration and duration of exposure). In addition, several asbestiform varieties of other amphiboles (i.e., richterite, winchite, and others) have been identified that are suspected or known to pose a health risk similar to the regulated asbestos minerals [1]. As more information on the health effects of other asbestiform minerals becomes available, new regulations may be developed, or existing regulations modified, to include asbestiform minerals in addition to those currently regulated.

When discussing the health effects of asbestos minerals, it is also important to distinguish between fibers and the non-asbestiform cleavage fragment analogs of these minerals. Gamble and Gibbs [25], Mossman et al. [42], and Ilgren [24] have reviewed numerous studies demonstrating that cleavage fragments and amphibole asbestos fibers have fundamentally different properties and that these differences are biologically relevant. Cleavage fragments lack the strength, durability, flexibility, and acid resistance of asbestos. Several studies indicate that the toxicity of respirable cleavage fragments is so much less than that of amphibole asbestos that by any reasonable measure they are not biologically harmful [24,25,42]. OSHA conducted a review of the health effects of inhalation of non-asbestiform amphiboles and determined that the scientific evidence was insufficient to regulate cleavage fragments since such fragments were unlikely to produce a significant risk of developing asbestos-related disease [43]. However, there is still not a general consensus among the medical community about the potency of different fiber sizes (i.e., length, width, and/or aerodynamic diameter), the relative potency of different asbestos species, and the potential health effects of cleavage and other rock fragments versus fibers. For example, NIOSH continues to argue for the regulation of "fiber-like cleavage fragments" as asbestos until the potential health effects are better understood [14]. Current analytical methods do not provide specific guidance on how to discriminate between asbestos and other non-hazardous rock fragments in order to properly assess the hazards of exposure to them and evaluate risk assessment data. These controversies and limitations of the methods contribute to the overall complexity of evaluating potential asbestos risk sources of NOA.

Low concentrations of fibrous minerals are common in nature, but environmental disease related to mineral fiber is extremely rare and mainly due to a few types of amphibole asbestos and asbestiform erionite, a zeolite mineral [2]. Asbestos, left locked and undisturbed in its host rock, presents no threat to human health. According to Dusek and Yetman, placement of a cover of clean soil over asbestos-containing soil and/or rocks can provide an effective barrier against exposure because they claim there is no recognized transport mechanism for asbestos migration from underlying bedrock into the upper soil regions in the absence of mechanical disturbance [44,45]. However, it has been reported that asbestos materials buried above the frost line can eventually migrate to the surface through freeze-thaw cycles [46,47]. In any case, asbestos may potentially be released from NOA-containing rocks and soil when they are crushed or otherwise disturbed in some manner. Therefore, airborne asbestos could become an environmental health hazard in populated areas that contain NOA-bearing rocks or soil, especially where such ground materials are exposed to natural weathering and erosion or to various human activities that create dust (absent appropriate engineering controls), such as mining, excavation and development of natural outcroppings, driving automobiles on unpaved roads, outdoor sports and recreational activities, etc. A number of factors can influence the length of time asbestiform amphiboles and other mineral particles released from soil and/or rock may stay airborne and how far they may travel before settling. Important factors include the characteristics of the disturbed rock/soil (i.e., hardness, moisture content, particle size, etc.), the size and aerodynamic characteristics of the released particles, the nature and force of the disturbance activity, weather conditions at the time of the disturbance, and wind speed and direction [48]. The study of hazards associated with asbestos exposure has traditionally focused on ore-grade commercial products in occupational and indoor building settings. At present, no one has an approved or accepted test method or formula for extrapolating actual or even potential inhalation exposure levels from rock or soil containing asbestos. Berman [49] has proposed one potential method that was successfully used at a New Jersey quarry [50]; however, this procedure has not been widely adopted.

One recent statistical study by Pan et al. indicated that, after taking into account cases with possible occupational exposures, the risk of developing malignant mesothelioma in California was directly related to a person's residential proximity to a source of ultramafic rock [51]. This study found that the odds of having mesothelioma fell by 6.3% for every 10 km farther a person lived from the nearest natural-occurring asbestos source. One of the study's co-authors equated the risk of developing mesothelioma from exposure to NOA as about the same as the risk of developing lung cancer from exposure to secondhand smoke [52]. The results of Pan's "residential proximity to NOA" study, however, have recently been called into question for several reasons [53,54]. One issue raised is the simple fact that the mere presence of NOA in geologic strata does not imply airborne fiber concentrations substantially above background levels nor does it take into account differences in fiber type. In fact, Pan et al. did not conduct any sampling or background level measurements near the vicinity of the study group's residences. Another issue is the fact that the most common type of asbestos in California ultramafic rock is chrysotile, which reportedly has low risk for mesothelioma [55]. Wind direction patterns are also an important variable, i.e., the closest NOA-bearing rock may not contribute as much asbestos exposure to a particular neighborhood as one somewhat further away. The study by Pan et al. lacked a lifetime residential history of the cohort subjects and may also have missed some potential occupational exposures. Use of a cohort's home address at the time of diagnosis does not consider residential location during the long relevant latency period, decades preceding diagnosis. As a final note regarding this study, to date there have not been any published studies reporting verified cancer clusters or epidemiological evidence of increased mortality in California that have been directly related to exposure to NOA.

Ross and Nolan reviewed several medical studies indicating a high incidence of mesothelioma, supposedly resulting from environmental exposure to tremolite NOA in soil, in several small rural villages in mainly agricultural areas of Turkey, Greece, Cyprus, Corsica, and New Caledonia [2]. In all of these studies, the villagers routinely quarried, ground, and used the tremolite asbestos-containing white soil to produce a whitewash or plaster material (i.e., white stucco), which was widely applied to the walls, floors, and roofs of houses. Other common uses of the tremolite-containing soil were as insulation and waterproofing materials in homes, in pottery, and even as a baby powder [56]. These studies represent unusual circumstances where villagers were repeatedly exposed to tremolite asbestos dusts from an early age both indoors and outdoors. Hence, it can be argued that clusters of mesothelioma attributable to NOA have been observed only in the unique cases where direct daily exposure to materials containing NOA is common.

With the potential for asbestos related disease, the determination of risk from asbestos is of critical importance to both public health officials and regulatory bodies. The EPA has reported there are four factors that increase the risk of contracting asbestos-related disease: (1) the concentration of asbestos fibers in the air; (2) the frequency of exposure; (3) the duration of exposure; and (4) the time that elapses after exposure [57]. Therefore, in areas containing NOA, it is possible that there will be some low level risk associated with background concentrations of asbestos. Regardless, it is unlikely that concentrations of airborne asbestos from NOA sources will ever produce sustainable elevated levels of airborne asbestos of the kind historically related to asbestos disease. The EPA has stated that the risk from NOA is similar to the everyday risk that everyone experiences from different environmental factors such as air pollution in urban areas or earthquakes in earthquake-prone areas [57]. However, existing asbestos risk models are based on a linear dose assumption, i.e. there is no threshold for development of disease. These models [58,59] were derived from epidemiology studies of comparatively high industrial exposures. The extrapolation of these models to low, ambient concentrations has not been validated. In the absence of such validation, the existence of a threshold air concentration for asbestos fibers cannot be discounted (not unlike the absence of threshold values for hydrocarbons in the early 1980s) and the extent that low concentrations of airborne fibers represent a health hazard cannot be precisely quantified [60]. Risk estimates can be made for low concentrations using the existing risk models, but the confidence intervals for such estimates will be comparatively large. As a result, it is even more difficult to understand the relationship between source concentration and the level of rock and soil disturbance necessary to generate harmful doses of airborne NOA-bearing dust and potential elevated risk. Although, as previously mentioned, Berman [49] has proposed one method for predicting exposure from soils and rocks that was successfully used at a New Jersey quarry [50]; however, this procedure has not been widely adopted.

The current EPA approved method of risk assessment is termed Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS), and is based on the evaluation of the risk of asbestos disease to a number of cohorts occupationally exposed to commercial asbestos [58]. The analytical method supporting the analysis is phase contrast microscopy (PCM) augmented by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) when the identity of fibers is in question. IRIS does not address any method for treating or considering non-asbestos rock fragments, and does not address the relative potency of different forms of asbestos.

EPA, recognizing the limitations of IRIS, commissioned an effort to modernize the risk methodology [61]. The result of this effort represents the latest science for measuring the risk posed by asbestos-the Berman-Crump Asbestos Risk Assessment Protocol (Berman-Crump Protocol) [41]. This protocol was the result of an EPA-funded, multi-year study which demonstrated that airborne amphibole asbestos fibers that are long and thin (longer than 10 μ m and having widths that are less than 0.4 μ m) are of most concern with respect to health risk and that different relative carcinogenic potencies should be applied for different fiber types when estimating risk. The EPA partially funded a collaborative study between NIOSH investigators and investigators from Duke University Medical Center and University of Chicago on the role of fiber size in predicting lung cancer or asbestosis in chrysotile textile workers at a single South Carolina textile plant [62]. The results of this study support the conclusions of the Berman-Crump Protocol. The study found that fiber length and width were highly statistically significant predictors of lung cancer and asbestosis mortality. Lung cancer was best predicted by long, thin fibers (i.e., >40 µm length; <0.3 µm width), although other sizes including those $\leq 5 \,\mu$ m length also provided good fits. This study also concluded that asbestosis was best predicted by shorter ($\leq 1.5 \,\mu$ m), thinner ($\leq 0.3 \,\mu$ m) fibers; length appeared to be unimportant.

A detailed review of the results from the Berman–Crump Protocol is beyond the scope of this article. In brief, the protocol defined appropriate procedures for evaluating asbestos-risk and developed optimum values for exposure–response coefficients for lung cancer and mesothelioma and a conservative set of potency estimates. To assess risk, depending on the specific application, either the best-estimate risk coefficients or the conservative estimates can be incorporated into described procedures for assessing asbestos-related risk in a given situation. Results presented in the study can be combined with appropriately determined estimates of exposure to develop estimates of risk in environments of interest.

The Berman-Crump Protocol was the subject of a peerreview consultation held in San Francisco on February 25-26, 2003 [63]. In general, the eleven-member expert panel endorsed the overall approach to risk assessment proposed in the report, although there are still some areas where controversies persist. At this time, the additional research and analyses recommended by the peer consultation panel are not yet completed, the protocol has not been independently peer reviewed, and the EPA has not officially adopted the protocol. However, the Berman-Crump method is in the process of being peer-reviewed and published [64-66]. Until the final version of the Berman-Crump Protocol is completed and officially adopted by the EPA as a valid risk assessment tool or other widely accepted risk models become available, assessment of asbestos exposure risk will depend primarily on the qualitative identification (i.e., the presence or absence) of NOA at a particular site, thereby placing this responsibility on geologists and trained asbestos analysts. Without well-defined standards and valid risk assessments, the ultimate risk from NOA exposure to humans under more typical circumstances during normal daily outdoor activities is still uncertain.

4. Sampling methodology

As the population grows and new land developments are initiated, potential NOA disturbances should be evaluated, a risk analysis performed, and a plan similar to or part of an environmental impact statement should become a standard part of the development protocol. Similarly, when suggestions or concerns are expressed about potential NOA in an existing area, a similar program should be put in place. Any evaluation of potential NOA environments must begin with a review of all available geological information. This should include all geological, topographical, and soil references, publications, and maps prepared by the United States Geological Survey (USGS), the local state and county agencies, or published in the literature. In addition, aerial photographs may provide information on geologic structures and recent and historic uses of a site [1]. Information on the geographic occurrence of unique plant species may also provide insight into the soil composition and distribution [1].

Regional reference samples that are representative of the area under study are essential in any mixed mineral or potential NOA investigation. They provide the laboratories with control samples that can be compared with the results obtained throughout the study. The reference samples should provide information on the general geology and mineralogy of the site, including the identification of any asbestiform minerals. While the current methods do not provide guidelines on the proper way to examine or collect samples in mixed mineral environments, several issues to consider in the sampling process are discussed below.

The USGS has recently published detailed maps showing the locations of historic asbestos mines, historic asbestos prospects, and natural asbestos occurrences in the Eastern and Central United States [67,68]. These maps and the associated digital data reports are intended to provide State and local government agencies and other stakeholders with the latest geologic informa-

tion on natural occurrences of asbestos. These reports currently provide location, mineralogy, geology, and relevant literature information for 331 natural asbestos occurrences in the Eastern United States and 26 in the Central United States [67,68]. The California Department of Conservation has also issued a general state map and detailed reports and maps showing the location of ultramafic rocks and likely areas for NOA in three highly populated California counties (Western El Dorado, Placer, and Eastern Sacramento) [69-72]. The extensive mapping effort in California arose because of resident concerns over the potential health risks associated with NOA as land development increasingly moved into areas of serpentinite outcrops [73]. However, many available geologic maps and documents may not mention the occurrence of asbestos minerals if they were not an important part of the particular study. The original intent of the map or documents must always be considered when researching the geologic environment of a potential NOA site. It should also be remembered that while geographic conditions are more likely for asbestos formation in or near the designated areas on asbestos maps, its presence in a specific location is not certain by any means. For example, areas mapped as containing ultramafic rock may be extensively covered with soil and/or vegetation; hence, any NOA that may be present may not be in a state to be released unless disturbed.

Given the multiple purposes for the original generation of geological maps and the lack of standard protocols for surveys, the method recommended by the California Geological Survey for verification of the geologic conditions at a given location is through a detailed site-specific examination by a qualified geologist [1]. A site investigation involves walking the site and observing the mineralogy, paying close attention to structural features such as folds, faults, and cracks, including the orientation and degree of weathering. Asbestos occurs in veins, lenses, pockets, as aggregates of fibers, cross veins, slip fibers, or matted masses. The occurrence, distribution, and description (i.e. color, texture, friability) of any asbestos-containing or potentially asbestos-containing rock or soil should be documented in writing and with photographs. In addition, site areas containing fill or other imported earth material should be examined to determine if the materials contain asbestos since asbestos-containing materials and products have historically been used in construction and manufacturing in the United States. The California Air Resources Board (CARB) has already taken the lead in this area by adopting an Airborne Toxic Control Measure (ATCM) for construction, grading, quarrying, and surface mining operations that will take place in ultramafic rock regions [74]. In order to obtain an exemption from the regulation, a registered geologist must perform a geological survey prior to any excavation activities. The survey includes evaluation of geological maps and research, a site visit, and documentation of geologic features, rock and soil types that may be indicative of ultramafic rock or serpentine and amphibole mineralization. However, it is difficult to judge whether such regulations are adequate or necessary in the absence of scientific studies aimed at determining the effectiveness of these measures for protecting public health.

Depending on the scope of the project, sampling will typically be performed at the surface as well as below the surface [1]. In any case, the number of samples collected should be representative of the site. Geological sampling for NOA can be "targeted" or "unbiased" and can include hand and soil samples [1]. Targeted, or directed, sampling is used to verify field observations and confirm the presence or absence of asbestos in samples with potential fibrous minerals. Unbiased, or non-targeted sampling is used when there are no obvious locations or features on a site that suggest the presence of asbestos.

To confirm the presence of asbestos minerals, laboratory analysis is required to determine the morphology, crystal structure, and chemical composition of the particles present in bulk samples. Once the sources of potential asbestiform minerals have been sampled, as well as other rock types in the area, including non-asbestos amphiboles, the locations and potential for disturbance can be evaluated. If the potential for disturbance is likely, and the material friable, air testing and risk analyses should be performed. In the event that asbestiform materials are identified in soil samples, the releasibility of fibers under known conditions should be established. Assuming a substantial exposure potential exists, an air-monitoring program can be initiated, or a field-sampling program designed. Guidance on such sampling and measurement techniques can be found in the EPA Superfund Method [75].

There is a debate as to the suitability of the current accepted methodologies for mixed mineral environments [15]. An entirely new methodology and assessment procedure may be needed to properly address mixed mineral dusts and potential NOAcontaining situations. Therefore, this paper does not recommend one analytical method over another, but touches on the advantages and disadvantages of a variety of analytical techniques that may be used in combination to evaluate mixed mineral environments.

5. Current methods for asbestos identification

As the surmised health effects of NOA continue to cause concern and fear in the general public, scientific and regulatory bodies are engaged in their own debate regarding the appropriate analytical methods and protocols for mixed mineral environments. Issues that have been raised concerning identification of asbestos include: (1) whether other asbestiform minerals should be included in the regulatory definition of asbestos; (2) whether the treatment of cleavage fragments of non-asbestiform amphiboles is appropriate; and (3) whether the current specified analytical dimensional criteria for fibers are appropriate [14]. Importantly, this debate centers on the amphibole asbestos minerals and the non-asbestos analogs and not the chrysotile mineral. Chrysotile is a recognized asbestiform mineral and is specified in the analytical methods. Thus, classification of its non-asbestos analog, antigorite, or other serpentine minerals such as lizardite, would violate the method, even if the particle met the nominal counting criteria (although it should be noted that NIOSH wants to regulate antigorite and lizardite as asbestos [14]). By inference, and because (with the exception of International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 10312 [76]) the methods are specific for asbestos, non-asbestos amphiboles should not be counted. However, some laboratories and

agency groups take the position that unless the non-asbestos amphiboles are specifically excluded from the analytical protocol, they should be counted if the particle meets the nominal counting criteria [14,77].

This type of ambiguity in the research literature and public media as to the distinction between asbestos and non-asbestos minerals highlights the limitations of the current analytical methods and protocols. These limitations are magnified in the case of NOA and mixed mineral environments since typical exposure levels for NOA are much lower than traditional occupational exposure levels [39,78,79]. Due to the low fiber concentrations in typical mineral dust, non-asbestos amphiboles represent a much larger component of the total mineral particle population compared to commercial asbestos samples or airborne fibers generated from commercial sources, and therefore pose a greater analytical issue.

The historical development of current methods focused on the analysis of commercial-grade chrysotile asbestos found in the workplace and in consumer products, not the occurrence of amphibole asbestos found in mixed mineral environments [80]. The only current methods providing direct guidance for separation of the non-asbestos and asbestos amphiboles are the Yamate TEM method [81], which instructs the laboratory that asbestos minerals generally have a preferred orientation and electron diffraction pattern. The Yamate method cautions that some non-asbestos minerals will produce the same pattern, and indicates that ambiguity can only be resolved through the comparison of fiber morphology with standard reference minerals. The NIOSH 7402 TEM method [82] and the OSHA ID-191 PLM method [83] indicate that non-asbestos minerals represent an interference, and instruct the laboratory to separate asbestos from non-asbestos using the same characteristics as those used optically.

The issue of cleavage fragments is extremely important in mixed mineral environments due to the co-existence of serpentine and amphibole asbestos as well as their non-asbestos analogues. The identification of chrysotile with a microscope, for example, is straightforward due to the unique particle morphology and crystal structure not seen in non-asbestiform varieties of serpentine [3], even the non-asbestiform varieties with high aspect ratio. The distinction between amphibole asbestiform and non-asbestiform varieties, however, is not as obvious because amphibole particles can occur in a variety of shapes, ranging from blocky to prismatic to acicular to asbestiform [3]. A prismatic crystal has one elongated dimension and two other dimensions that are approximately equal. An acicular crystal is a special type of prismatic crystal that is extremely long and thin with a small diameter (i.e., needle-like) [1]. Amphibole particles can also break (or cleave) into smaller fragments when crushed or finely ground. Cleavage refers to the preferential splitting of crystals along planes of structural weakness (cleavage planes) [1]. Minerals with one cleavage plane will produce platy fragments, minerals with two distinct cleavage planes will produce prismatic or acicular fragments, and minerals with three or more cleavage planes will form polyhedral fragments [1]. The current PCM and TEM methods are designed to measure and identify asbestos but do not unambiguously define the nature of amphibole particles which should not be counted. Going forward, it is essential to reaffirm a consensus for an accurate risk-based mineralogical and regulatory definition of the term "asbestos" in order to develop improved cost-effective analytical methodology and provide proper risk assessment.

In the mineralogical sense, several studies and reference methods including the EPA 1993 PLM method [84], the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) PLM method [85], and the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) 1867 reference [86] define the asbestiform habit, under the light microscope, by the following characteristics [87,88]:

A fibrous silicate mineral comprised of fine, flexible, readily separable fibers, having a high tensile strength and the following characteristics as individual fibers or bundles:

- 1. mean aspect ratio ranging from 20:1 to 100:1 or higher for fibers longer than 5 μm;
- 2. very thin fibrils, usually less than 0.5 µm in width;
- 3. parallel fibers occurring in bundles; and
- 4. one or more of the following:
- a. fiber bundles displaying splayed ends,
- b. matted masses of individual fibers, and/or
- c. fibers showing curvature.

These criteria are defined for optical magnifications, and a consensus definition should be defined for the SEM and TEM that incorporate these criteria, and any additional distinguishing characteristics not defined for the optical case such as parallel sides, type of ends, and electron diffraction characteristics. By definition, amphibole particles not meeting these criteria are not asbestos. Optically, the positive indicators of cleavage fragments and euhedral to subeuhedral crystals are stepped sides, visible cleavage planes, and blunt or angular terminations. Aspect ratios are generally less than 20:1 for particles longer than 5 μ m, except in the case of byssolitic structures.

Another issue of debate regarding the analysis of mixed mineral dusts is what constitutes a "countable" fiber. The most notable differences in the definition of a countable fiber occur between the standard light and electron microscope methods for the determination of asbestos in air samples [88]. The NIOSH 7400 [89] and Physical and Chemical Analytical Methods (P&CAM) [90] PCM methods arbitrarily count as fibers all particles visible in the microscope that are at least 5 µm long and have a minimum aspect ratio of 3:1 [80,89]. In contrast, with the much higher resolution TEM, the analyst normally counts asbestos fibers greater than 0.5 µm in length with an aspect ratio greater than or equal to 5:1 [82]. The aspect ratio was chosen to improve precision and minimize the interferences from nonasbestos particles. In addition, the PCM and TEM methods were used to assess asbestos exposure levels and the estimating technology was based on counting "asbestos" particles of a certain size [91]. It is worth noting that the Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act (AHERA) method [92] was not intended for ambient air monitoring or exposure assessment, whereas the Yamate [81], ISO 10312 [76] and NIOSH 7402 [82] methods can be used for this purpose. In some laboratories, and even in some agency groups, aspect ratio has become the primary and sole means of identifying asbestos fibers. This practice is at odds with mineralogists, asbestos morphology, and with risk models that do not define asbestos according to simple shape characteristics. The use of a dimensionless parameter such as aspect ratio results in the loss of information about the actual size of the fiber and, therefore, is of little or no use when discussing exposure or toxicological outcome [18]. Defining asbestos fibers based on aspect ratio alone is unacceptable because it is not based on documented health effects or on unique physical characteristics of asbestos fibers. Asbestos is an elongated mineral, so although a predetermined aspect ratio will include most asbestos fibers, it will also include other elongated non-asbestos mineral particles.

5.1. Analysis of airborne fibers in mixed mineral dust

There is a tendency to regard fiber counting techniques as "locked in stone." In reality, there has been tremendous evolution in the methodology, when as is the case today, the available methods failed to meet the need or adequately measure the exposure. The original procedures developed for asbestos dust measurements used a variety of techniques, such as entrainment or impingement, to capture the airborne particles. These dust collection tests were performed in locales where commercially produced asbestos was being manipulated or processed. Each of the early methods used a light microscopy method to count all particles that were at least 1 μ m in size [93]. In the early 1960s, air filters began to achieve acceptance for the collection of airborne particulate [94]. These early studies were first conducted in the United Kingdom and later in the United States [95], but the PCM method was not developed until the late 1960s by the U.S. Public Health Service [94]. In 1970, the first regulatory PCM method for asbestos evolved that evaluated the airborne fibers in the workplace where commercial asbestos was in use and was intended as an assessment of industrial exposures [96]. In 1977, NIOSH issued their first PCM method [90], but published an updated method, NIOSH 7400 [89], in 1984 following studies that showed variability in results due in part to varying qualities of the microscopes. The NIOSH 7400 PCM method specified sample collection procedures, material (filter and microscope) qualities, and counting protocols.

As discussed above, the PCM method counts all visible fibers that are at least 5 μ m long with an aspect ratio of 3:1 or greater. In general, the PCM technique is viewed as being unable to detect fibers less than 0.25 μ m in diameter [97]. However, thinner fibers are visible in the PCM, but their diameters cannot be measured. The primary purpose of the standardized PCM methods was never to discriminate between asbestos and non-asbestos fibers, only to monitor and control the airborne commercial asbestos fibers in order to reduce the disease incidence [98,99]. The original dose response and risk assessment data were collected using midget impinger and thermal precipitator measurements [80,99,100]. Since its adoption, the PCM method has become the generally accepted technique used for exposure and risk estimates from which dose response assessments are derived [80,99,100]. In these workplace environments, it was a safe assumption that the majority of particles fitting the simple counting rules would indeed be asbestos. The PCM minimum 3:1 aspect ratio was not based on any scientific definition of asbestos characteristics or the toxicological significance of such characteristics, but simply reflected a need to improve consistency in exposure measurements by analysts. However, a technique that utilizes an "asbestos fiber" definition specifying a minimum aspect ratio of 3:1 for particles longer than 5 μ m is not valid for the analysis of mixed mineral dusts simply because in most typical natural environments there are too many nonasbestos particles that would fit the aspect ratio definition [80].

The PCM technique can be extended beyond what is prescribed in the methods and additional information concerning airborne fibers in mixed mineral environments can be ascertained using the PCM. For example, current analytical techniques and risk protocols designed for the evaluation of airborne fibers in the workplace do not address the wide spectrum of particles that may be present in airborne mixed mineral samples. The particles can range from short, wide fibers to very long, thin fibers. There is a general consensus among health experts that long, thin fibers present more of a health risk than low to moderate doses of short, wide fibers. However, a controversy exists concerning the particles that fall in the middle of this length-width continuum. The risk of these intermediate sized fibers is not well understood. The fibers that are not counted in PCM (under $0.25 \,\mu m$ wide) fit the consensus that fibers long, and in this case, very thin, are more toxic; however, what is their contribution to the adverse outcome? Since the health effects of the intermediate sized fibers are not established and the contribution to disease from very thin non-PCM countable fibers is not quantified, there is uncertainty as to how to handle these particles during an analysis. Should the intermediate sized particles be differentiated from the long, thin asbestos fibers? If it is found that sorting of the particle population is necessary from a risk perspective, what is the most cost effective method to achieve this goal? It becomes apparent that some type of screening method is necessary as an initial step in the analytical process of mixed mineral environments. The ultimate goal of the screening step would be to provide information on the size distribution of the particles and fibers. If no high-risk fibers are detected, then no additional analysis may be necessary. If an elevated population of high-risk fibers is discovered, the most appropriate technique to accurately measure and unequivocally identify the presence of asbestos will need to be identified and used.

ASTM has recently implemented a screening method based on the PCM technique for determining an index of occupational exposure to airborne fibers in mines, quarries, or other locations where ore may be processed or handled [101]. ASTM recognized and addressed the complexity of analyzing asbestos in mixed mineral dust atmospheres with the development of this rapid screening optical protocol that preserves the information obtained in the conventional PCM analysis but added a discriminate analysis component to identify samples with significant numbers of long, thin fibers. The method provides an estimate of the fraction of counted fibers that may be asbestos by classifying the fibers (longer than 5 μ m with an aspect ratio of 3:1 or greater) into three groups: (1) fibers that show curvature, splayed ends, or appearance of bundles; (2) fibers that are longer than $10 \,\mu\text{m}$ or thinner than $1.0 \,\mu\text{m}$;¹ and (3) all other countable fibers. If an elevated content of long thin fibers is detected optically, the ASTM method recommends supplemental electron microscopy analysis. This type of approach that differentiates particles of different size ranges and different physical characteristics is the first step in screening mixed mineral samples.

Following the screening step in an analytical methodology for airborne fibers in mixed mineral environments, additional analyses may be necessary to accurately measure and unequivocally identify the presence of asbestos. While the complete chemical, morphological, and crystallographic analysis of every particle in a mixed mineral sample would be ideal, it is not realistic due to time and cost limitations. The resources, including time, money, and effort, need to be focused on the identification and classification of the particles that pose the most risk. More uncertainty is acceptable in the full identification of the particles that pose less of a risk. The challenge for scientists and policy makers will be streamlining and efficiently organizing the series of analytical steps most appropriate for analyzing fibers that present the most risk in airborne samples of mixed mineral dusts.

Either the TEM or SEM provides the necessary resolution and analytical capabilities to determine if the long, thin fibers are asbestos. In the United States, TEM is widely regarded as the most reliable technique for asbestos analysis due to the high image resolution, electron diffraction, and chemical identification capabilities [1,82,102]. However, as is the case with PCM, the focus of current TEM methods is to analyze known fibers in controlled environments, not unknown fibers in uncontrolled environments. Evaluation of ambient air samples for asbestos were first performed in the 1970s using electron microscopy and the first recognized EPA TEM procedure for air samples was written by Samudra et al. in 1977 [102]. The EPA developed a revised method, known as the Yamate Method [81], and though never officially published by the EPA, it "became the de facto standard analytical TEM procedure for airborne measurements in the United States" [39].

The first and fully promulgated air protocol produced by the EPA was a TEM method for testing the cleanliness of air in schools following abatement of asbestos-containing building materials. Under the AHERA authority, the EPA developed a rapid TEM method for use in clearance testing at abatement sites [92]. The method specified sample collection procedures and required a direct transfer preparation method. To reduce the analysis time, the method did not require recording of fiber dimensions, but did require listing the fibers as either greater than $5 \,\mu m$ or less than $5 \,\mu m$ in length. One important change over the Draft Yamate Method was the increase in minimum aspect ratio from 3:1 to 5:1. Many experts on the AHERA committee had argued for 10:1 or 20:1 as the minimum aspect ratio value, but the decision was deemed too great a change from historical data to be acceptable. In addition, a minimum length for asbestos fibers $(0.5 \,\mu\text{m})$ was specified for the first time to improve the reproducibility of fiber counts. Independently, recognizing that not all

¹ The method is being revised to change "or" to "and".

airborne fibers are asbestos and that OSHA regulated asbestos fibers, NIOSH issued a TEM asbestos method in 1989, NIOSH 7402 [82], which was designed for use in conjunction with PCM (NIOSH 7400 [89]) to allow the determination of the asbestos proportion of countable PCM fibers. NIOSH 7402 specifies a magnification comparable to the magnification used in the optical microscope, counting fibers longer than 5 μ m, wider than 0.25 μ m, and which have an aspect ratio of at least 3:1. OSHA permits the use of the NIOSH 7402 method when analyzing air samples for OSHA compliance purposes (when performed in conjunction with PCM). An international analytical method, ISO 10312, was also developed for commercial mineral species [76].

The TEM methods described above are best suited for counting short fibers. There are several factors that contribute to the poor statistics on long, thin fibers that will be achieved when analyzing an asbestos population of fibers in the TEM. In an ambient airborne asbestos fiber population, the fiber length distribution can vary widely depending on the source, but typically from 1 to 10% of the fibers are longer than 5 µm in length and only 0.1-1% of the fibers are longer than 10 μ m [103]. As a result, the measurement of all particles, as current TEM methods require, creates an intrinsically higher uncertainty for the concentration of long thin fibers than for the fibers less than 5 µm in length. In addition, as the magnification is decreased in the TEM, the visibility of thin fibers is reduced due to illumination issues [104]. This increases the probability of missing long, thin fibers at low magnifications in the TEM. There is also an increased likelihood that fibers 10 µm or longer in length will intersect a grid bar, making it difficult to accurately determine the total length [82,105]. This adds additional uncertainty to the proportion of fibers longer than $10 \,\mu m$ that may be missed during a routine analysis. Finally, in order to measure the length and width of long thin fibers with the same precision, multiple magnifications are needed. Low magnifications are required to measure fiber length and high magnifications are required to measure fiber width as well as characterize surface texture and the nature of the fiber ends [106]. This is accomplished much more readily in the modern digital SEM than TEM [107]. This inaccuracy in the concentration of long, thin fibers can lead to increased uncertainty in the risk estimates. To avoid the issues discussed above, the SEM can be used to search for fibers longer than 10 µm in length. The digital beam control in the SEM allows for easy multiple magnification imaging and the grid bars do not present interference during an analysis. The TEM can still be used to search for fibers less than 10 µm in length.

The usefulness of the TEM is also limited in mixed mineral environments due to the nature of the TEM image. A TEM image is a projection of the specimen created from the electrons that pass through the specimen [108]. The shape of the particle, as seen by TEM analysis, is the projection of the overall particle shape; however, the true particle shape may be very different from what is observed in the TEM image. In a typical TEM analysis, the identification of a fiber is often based on the general shape of the particle, including aspect ratio and substantially parallel sides. True particle shape and dimensions of mixed mineral dusts may become extremely important in fully characterizing the particles and may not be fully identified from a TEM image alone.

The SEM technique also has the potential of becoming a screening technique for the identification of long, thin fibers. The SEM has evolved over the past 35 years into a reliable and effective method for asbestos fiber identification [104,109]. Past concerns over the visibility of fibers in the SEM image have been alleviated by the advent of digital microscopy [104,107]. The development of the high-resolution field emission SEM (FESEM) makes the SEM an even more attractive technique for complex asbestos characterization. Measurements of both the length and width of long, thin fibers is easily accomplished by quickly changing between high and low magnifications. In addition, the SEM can produce high-resolution three-dimensional-like images on the nanometer to micrometer scale, as well as semi-quantitative chemical information [107]. A method similar to the ASTM optical procedure could be extended to the SEM as a supplemental analysis. Particles longer than 10 μ m and less than 1 μ m in diameter could be separated into those less than 0.4 μ m in width and those wider than 0.4 μ m. The three-dimensional-like SEM images can also be used to determine if the particle is asbestiform or non-asbestiform in many instances. The ratio of fine/coarse fibers and estimate of the asbestiform fraction would provide a reliable estimate of the asbestos content of samples from mixed mineral environments.

The SEM has previously been used in a variety of studies for morphological characterization of asbestos fibers [110–114], although few standard SEM analytical methods exist [115–119]. Lee et al. and Harris et al. described enhancing a standard airborne asbestos TEM method for the analysis of mixed mineral dusts by additional FESEM imaging of each particle found that had an aspect ratio of 3:1 or greater [120-122]. The developed protocol required the morphological, crystallographic, and chemical characterization of each particle including the collection of secondary electron FESEM images of the full structure, both structure ends, and the particle surface. Stereo pair images were also formed to provide depth perception information not obtainable from a single secondary electron image. The research showed that the FESEM relocation process and analysis are essential complementary elements to TEM for accurate particleby-particle examination of mixed mineral dusts [120-122]. In addition to being more suitable for the analysis of long, thin fibers, the SEM is more cost-effective than TEM from an instrumental standpoint and can provide faster sample analysis. While there are no standard SEM protocols for NOA environments, the USGS did note in a recent report that "the emerging practice of fully characterizing all particles of potential concern, both chemically and morphologically, will aid in developing appropriate analytical procedures" [15]. SEM (FESEM in particular) is a capable method for developing such improved particle-byparticle analysis procedures.

The recent NIOSH White Paper proposal noted that the cost of using TEM and/or SEM for routine asbestos sample analysis would be considerably higher than PCM analysis and the turnaround time for sample analysis would be increased substantially [14]. While this argument has some merit, it should not prevent the development and regulatory adoption of such advanced electron microscopy methods. When dealing with matters of public policy and protecting the public health, it is vital that the best scientific methods be used to provide accurate measurements for risk assessments. This will require an extensive mineralogical characterization for evaluating the risks of NOA in a given area. In addition, the NIOSH proposal stated that any routine use of electron microscopy methods for counting and sizing fibers would require an analysis of inter-laboratory and inter-operator variability. Assessment of inter-laboratory and inter-operator variability should not pose a major problem to implementing improved electron microscopy methods since various laboratory accreditation organizations and round-robin testing protocols already exist to evaluate laboratory and analyst competence for the PCM and TEM existing methods. It will be important to develop techniques with improved resolution to visualize the smaller diameter fibers, which pose the highest risk, to assure the most complete and accurate fiber counts. The major challenge to scientists is to develop streamlined costeffective screening techniques with the ability to accurately determine the fibers of highest risk with acceptable uncertainty and operator variability. This formidable task could possibly be accomplished with techniques that allow higher uncertainty in the measurement of lower to medium risk particles. As new methods are developed, it is important to point out that reported risk estimates for occupational asbestos exposure were generally determined by PCM methods. Hence, fiber counts obtained with improved microscope resolution capabilities would not be directly comparable to current occupational exposure limits for asbestos without developing meaningful conversion factors to relate the new results with the original risk data generated using the older PCM method.

5.2. Analysis of bulk samples of mixed mineral dust

While PCM, TEM, and SEM are strong potential analytical techniques for screening and analyzing air samples in mixed mineral environments, PLM can be a powerful tool for microscopic mineral identification and screening of bulk samples in mixed mineral environments. The early PLM analyses of large samples to determine the mineralogy of rock and ore samples dates back to the mid 1800s [123]. These evaluations utilized the polarized light microscope to examine thin sections of a rock or mounts of individual grains of minerals. Using the observed refractive indices of the minerals, unambiguous identifications of the mineral particles was possible. Responding to increasing demands to analyze building materials for asbestos content, the EPA published its first bulk analytical PLM protocol in 1982 [124]. Until then, microscopists used PLM techniques as they were generally taught in college courses. The 1982 EPA protocol, issued to be the standard procedure by which the asbestos content of bulk building materials was to be determined, was slightly modified in 1988 to allow for alternate quantification procedures [125]. In a 1992 letter from Michael Beard to Sally Sasnett, EPA officials acknowledged the issues related to the interpretation of the 1982 EPA PLM protocol, recognizing the difficulty in the identification of cleavage fragments and asbestos fibers of the same mineral, as well as the definition of asbestos,

"asbestos fibers", and appropriate aspect ratios of asbestos fibers [126]. The Beard letter recommended the use of large aspect ratios (20:1–100:1) as a screening or identification tool for asbestos amphibole minerals.

Additional PLM analytical procedures have been issued by the EPA [84] and OSHA [83], with only the OSHA procedure being promulgated. The EPA has recommended the use of its more recent method but has not mandated such use. Other U.S. agencies and organizations, including NIOSH [127], ASTM [85], The New York Environmental Laboratory Approval Program [128], and CARB [129] have also written or published PLM analytical procedures.

As discussed above, PLM is routinely used to verify the presence of asbestos in bulk commercial products. Unlike bulk manufactured products, mixed mineral samples are not homogeneous because they have not been processed or refined for commercial purposes. Any serpentine or amphibole asbestiform minerals will be combined with other minerals common to ultramafic metamorphic rock formations, including non-asbestos particles of the same species. Therefore, the mineral quantification of homogenized bulk samples, as required by accepted PLM techniques, needs to be coupled with a macroscopic inspection of the original sample. A macroscopic inspection is necessary to identify specific locations for further PLM analysis.

The PLM technique can potentially identify both the mineral species and the crystal habit of asbestos containing materials. Specifically, the extinction angle can be used to differentiate asbestiform amphiboles from non-asbestiform amphibole minerals that are often found in mixed mineral environments. Under cross-polarized light, an anisotropic mineral (one having different physical properties in different directions) will change color as the stage is rotated. The grain will turn black at four positions during a full rotation and is said to have reached extinction [130]. When a mineral goes extinct in a straight up-down or sideways orientation, the mineral is said to have parallel extinction. When parallel extinction occurs, the extinction angle is measured to be nearly zero degrees.

Orthorhombic amphibole particles, such as anthophyllite, will always exhibit parallel extinction regardless of the crystal habit of the particle. However, in monoclinic amphiboles, the extinction angle can be used to distinguish asbestiform from non-asbestiform particles. Non-asbestiform monoclinic amphiboles typically show non-parallel or oblique extinction greater than 10°. However, the asbestiform monoclinic amphibole particles do exhibit parallel extinction [131,132]. Due to the resolution limits of the microscopes, individual asbestiform fibrils are not visible in some orientations in the optical microscope. However, bundles of individual fibrils that are tightly packed and randomly oriented around one axis are readily visible [131]. This uniaxial-like property produces parallel extinction in monoclinic asbestiform amphiboles and makes them distinguishable from non-asbestiform particles [132].

6. The impact of NOA on the United States

Public, business, and government concerns involving NOA are currently widespread throughout the United States. NOA

contamination in various geographic locations has generated great fear and worry and has prompted, in some instances, very costly and controversial remedial actions. The following examples illustrate the types of problems that can occur as a result of the various issues involving NOA discussed above and the fact that the United States has no clear national public policy for dealing with NOA in a straightforward manner. A few cases discussed below also offer examples for improvements and potential solutions for solving issues associated with NOA.

6.1. Libby, MT

Libby is a small town in northwest Montana within the Rainy Creek Complex—an igneous alkaline-ultramafic body. Libby was at one time the site of the world's largest vermiculite mine accounting for almost 80% of the world's vermiculite production [3]. The unprocessed vermiculite ore reportedly contained an estimated 0–5% amphibole, both asbestiform and nonasbestiform varieties [2,3,114,133–135]. Epidemiological studies conducted in the 1980s found a high incidence of asbestosrelated disease among the mine workers. National attention turned to the small town in late 1999 when the media reported a high incidence of asbestos disease among Libby residents [2].

Within days of the first media reports, the EPA began an investigation and remediation effort. The area is now designated as a Superfund site. The Superfund action at Libby ranks among the largest and most costly in the history of the EPA [2]. A 2003 study in the Libby area conducted by the USGS stated that "the ultimate resolution . . . will be years in coming, and the final costs. . . may be enormous" [114]. Confirming this prediction, a report issued by the EPA Office of Inspector General in December 2006 stated that the EPA still cannot verify the effectiveness of its efforts to clean up amphibole asbestos contamination in Libby after 7 years of work on more than 700 homes and more than \$100 million spent [136].

The mineralogy in the Libby area is complex. Nearly all of the amphiboles found in Libby are not regulated minerals, and at a minimum, the vast majority of the amphiboles in the soil and air are not asbestiform [114,134,135]. A recent study conducted by the USGS in Libby noted that the amphibole minerals in Libby continue to present formidable challenges to the analyst, to anyone attempting to classify these materials using existing regulatory definitions, and particularly to those attempting to extrapolate those morphological features and chemical compositions to potential health risks [114]. Regardless of whether they are asbestiform, average ambient concentrations of airborne amphibole particles longer than 10 μm and thinner than $0.4 \,\mu\text{m}$ range from $0.0002 \,\text{structures}$ per milliliter (s/cc) to below detectable limits in the community [137]. Estimates of asbestiform concentrations range from 1 to 10% of the ambient concentrations [138]. Thus amphibole concentrations are similar to background concentrations for total asbestos (primarily chrysotile) in urban environments.

The potential asbestos exposure pathways in Libby include individuals with occupational exposure, family members exposed through worker take-home contamination, community members exposed through ambient environmental levels, and residents exposed through the use of vermiculite as insulation or as a soil additive. Because of the multiple potential exposure scenarios, causes of disease among the non-mining population are confounded and in dispute [139–141]. Much of the debate stems from the lack of a coherent national policy and scientific consensus on the definition of asbestos, methods of identifying and classifying asbestos fibers and rock fragments, and the appropriateness of using risk models based on exposures to commercial asbestos fibers in a situation where only a portion of the counted fibers have the characteristics of asbestos.

6.2. El Dorado County, CA

El Dorado County, California is located within the Great Valley ophiolite belt, which includes numerous outcrops of serpentinite and other ultramafic rock as a result of tectonic activity [2]. The region formerly contained numerous chrysotile asbestos mines. El Dorado County attracted many new residents in recent years, so many that the population has increased nearly sixfold since 1960 [142]. During excavation for housing sites in El Dorado County in 1998, reported occurrences of tremolite asbestos were found at some of the sites, alarming the homeowners over health concerns and potential lowered home values. The local media produced a series of articles that suggested that the county residents' exposure to asbestos was endangering their health and the county has been in turmoil over the issue of NOA ever since. The media stories have focused on asbestos found in homes near mining and construction activities, animals from the region that had high levels of asbestos in their lungs, and testing at three schools and a community center: Rolling Hills Middle School, Silva Valley Elementary School, Oak Ridge High School, and El Dorado Hills Community Center [142].

In 2003, the EPA conducted a series of tests at schools and other public areas in the community of El Dorado Hills to assess potential asbestos exposure [143,144]. The testing included simulated activities that can create dust including: baseball, basketball, and soccer games at schools, running and biking on nature trails, playground activities, and gardening. The study reported asbestos fibers in almost all of the air samples collected during these tests and indicated that personal exposure levels were significantly higher during most sports and play activities compared to nearby levels taken outside the areas of activity. The results of the study led to extensive mitigation efforts in the county. The EPA study was later challenged, however, by another scientific report that claimed, after a careful and thorough particle-by-particle review of the EPA data and additional analysis of split samples, that the materials identified as asbestos by the EPA and its contract laboratories were not asbestos, based on chemistry and morphology, but were amphibole cleavage fragments and therefore should not be considered a major health risk [145]. The conclusions made in the critical review were supported by a number of mineralogical and asbestos experts [146–148]. A lengthy debate has ensued, highlighting the lack of consensus on the definition of asbestos, the relative risk posed by cleavage fragments, and the methods for distinguishing them.

The most recent study in the El Dorado area was conducted in 2006 by the USGS on behalf of the EPA [15]. Similar to the Libby case, the study found that the types of amphiboles in the El Dorado Hills area are not easily characterized using standard commercial asbestos test methods. In fact, the USGS report stated that if the EPA study had been conducted as an enforcement action, it would be inappropriate to classify the amphibole particles in El Dorado Hills as an actionable material because: (1) the majority of the particles were prismatic, not fibrous; and (2) approximately 40% of the particles were magnesiohornblende, a non-regulated mineral. The USGS study noted that the emerging practice of fully characterizing all particles of potential concern, both chemically and morphologically, will aid in developing appropriate analytical procedures, interpretation of epidemiological data, and development of regulatory policies to deal with situations such as the one in El Dorado Hills. The USGS report also concluded with a recommendation that the health, mineralogical, and regulatory communities consider a thorough evaluation of the existing asbestos definitions and analytical methods for application to NOA problems.

As a result of the EPA testing at Oak Ridge High School, mitigation efforts were completed by the school district that had a cost of over \$1.7 million [149]. The cost related to mitigation efforts has been in excess of \$1.8 million for a new elementary school built in El Dorado Hills [149]. Data from the adjoining community of Folsom, California indicates that their cost will be in excess of \$5 million to mitigate alleged NOA concerns during the construction of a new high school [149]. The necessity for these costly remediation actions is still very much in debate as a result of unanswered questions over testing methods and risk assessments. The manner in which NOA has been addressed in El Dorado Hills has had a tremendous impact on the local government and the schools, but the potential impact extends to the entire State of California and the nation as similar conditions and events arise elsewhere.

6.3. New Idria, CA

The New Idria serpentinite is a mountainous 44 square mile (114 km²) area located near Coalinga, California that consists of a large amount of highly sheared and pulverized rock fragments and powders, as well as boulders of partially altered serpentinerich rock [2,150]. New Idria is one of the largest NOA deposits in the world. Asbestos-bearing dust and debris has been entering the air and the stream valleys in this area for millions of years and the bulk material contains up to 60% chrysotile [2]. The vast majority of the asbestos found in this region has been described as "short-fiber" chrysotile and is reported to be amphibolefree because of the absence of igneous intrusions within the serpentinite body [2]. The New Idria serpentinite area is the site of three chrysotile mines, two of which (Atlas and Johns-Manville) ceased operations many years ago. The third mine, operated by King City Asbestos Corporation, was the last active asbestos mine in the United States and was closed in 2002. In the mid-1990s, the EPA designated the two closed mines as Superfund sites because of concerns about the health hazards of water- and air-borne chrysotile asbestos emissions from the mines [151–153]. Because of these concerns, valuable agricultural land was condemned, restrictions on the use of public lands

were proposed, large sums of money were requested for asbestos mitigation, and local residents were fearful for their safety. In this case, the EPA chose to focus on only a small fraction of the total asbestos releasing area as the two Superfund sites cover only a few percent of the total 28,000 acres that encompass the New Idria serpentinite [2,150].

The actual health risks to humans from NOA in the New Idria serpentinite have been questioned. Numerous studies indicate there is no evidence that ingestion of chrysotile asbestos (in water or food) causes harm in humans or animals, or that inhalation of short chrysotile asbestos fibers in the quantities found in the New Idria area cause disease [2,150,154]. Ross claimed that the New Idria Superfund sites, even by expenditure of huge sums of money, will have no measurable effect on human health, particularly in view of the fact that most of the asbestos emissions come from surrounding areas outside the Superfund sites, through naturally occurring processes [2,150]. Essentially confirming this claim, the EPA recently reported that the Atlas mine site has been cleaned up and no longer pose a risk to human health, but the health risks posed by NOA outside the mine site boundary still need to be assessed before the site can be removed from the National Priorities List [155]. Ross contends that the actual health risks in the New Idria serpentinite, if any, would have been better addressed by a scientifically based policy that addressed the entire outcrop area [2].

6.4. Clear Creek management area, CA

The Clear Creek Management Area (CCMA), located in San Benito and Fresno Counties, California is a popular 50,000 acre recreational area managed by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM). It provides 400–600 miles of unpaved vehicle routes and almost 3000 acres of barren hill climbs for off-highway vehicle (OHV) users, as well as other recreational opportunities such as hiking, camping, hunting, and rock collecting.

The CCMA is located on and around the New Idria ore body discussed above and is part of the Atlas Asbestos Mine Superfund site. The CCMA also borders the Johns-Manville Mine Superfund site. Most of the CCMA is designated as an asbestos hazard area and warning signs are posted at entry points and on bulletin boards. The EPA and BLM have long been concerned about potential health hazards associated with the generation and inhalation of airborne asbestos fibers by users of the CCMA, particularly those operating OHV on unpaved roads. Because of concerns over public health hazards, EPA and BLM conducted several risk assessment studies beginning in 2004 to update a study conducted by BLM in 1992 and to estimate asbestos exposure at the CCMA as a basis for determining appropriate managing strategies and mitigation measures that will minimize human health risk to users and maintenance workers [155–157].

Air samples were collected during both dry and wet seasons by individuals wearing personal monitors, while engaged in typical recreational activities including motorcycle riding, all terrain vehicle riding, sport utility vehicle (SUV) driving, hiking, camping, and washing and vacuuming dusty vehicles. The exposure of child users was also evaluated by positioning monitors to mimic a child's breathing zone. Results of the sampling indicated that the concentrations of chrysotile asbestos fibers to which CCMA recreational users are exposed is very high when compared with occupational health standards, particularly for trailing motorcyclists and SUV drivers, since these people would be exposed to greater amounts of dust compared to lead drivers. The EPA reported that the highest asbestos exposure levels measured in the CCMA studies were about 10 times higher than the highest values measured in El Dorado in 2004; however, the important differences in the types, sizes, and relative health risks of asbestos present in the CCMA and El Dorado studies were not mentioned in that report [157]. The asbestos type in the CCMA is chrysotile, whereas, the asbestos reported in El Dorado was amphibole. As mentioned above, the health risks of the chrysotile in the CCMA/New Idria areas have been questioned; therefore comparing "asbestos levels" in the CCMA to those in El Dorado may not be appropriate [2,150,154]. However, it should be acknowledged that the current EPA paradigm for assessing asbestos-related risks considers all types of asbestos as having similar potencies [61,158]. Results from the CCMA studies are currently being analyzed by the EPA, which has promised the issuance of technical memos and a final summary report sometime after the final sampling event, which had a scheduled date in mid-2006.

6.5. Fairfax County, VA

During the late 1980s building boom, large deposits of asbestos-containing rock were discovered at a construction project for an underground parking garage in Fairfax County, Virginia [2,44,45]. As a result of the rock being drilled and crushed, dust covered the entire construction project and several air drill operators experienced itching and skin irritation. Medical and geological investigations determined that the irritation was caused by tremolite fibers in the dust. Geological studies also found large veins of tremolite and actinolite asbestos in Fairfax County and other nearby areas. Construction and development in these NOA deposits presented considerable problems regarding public and employee safety.

The Air Pollution Control Division (APCD) of the Fairfax County Health Department immediately launched an extensive investigation to determine the extent of the NOA and the potential for airborne exposure to construction workers and the public. Air monitoring data confirmed that construction activities posed a significant potential health hazard to workers and the public. Media reports to the public made factual statements about the NOA in Fairfax County, but did not promote undue alarm, which allowed County officials to properly address the problem. As a result, the Fairfax County Health Department initiated appropriate dust control procedures and published a dust control advisory [44]. The advisory requires contractors to use: (1) proper dust control practices at all times; (2) personal and ambient air monitoring of the construction site during all phases of earthwork involving NOA; (3) safe waste rock disposal practices with all final disposal sites being covered with 6 in. of clean, compacted, NOA-free soil; and (4) requires that sufficient notice of possible asbestos contamination be given to all employees and contractors in compliance with existing OSHA asbestos standards and they must be given asbestos awareness training. If air monitoring determines a violation of permissible airborne asbestos limits has occurred, a report must be filed with the APCD outlining the suspected cause of the violation and the actions that will be taken to prevent future violations. As discussed above, CARB has also developed a similar detailed regulatory document on asbestos control procedures for construction, grading, quarrying, and surface mining activities in the State of California [74].

Due to this well-reasoned regulatory initiative in Fairfax County, home and commercial construction continued on some of the most valuable land in the eastern United States, while at the same time protecting workers and the public from an avoidable risk of asbestos-related disease. Fairfax County did not ban construction in the asbestos vein because it was demonstrated that common sense controls can work when dealing with NOA. Economics in the Washington, DC metropolitan area made it possible to develop this land even with the added expense of NOA controls. It was estimated that the expense of reasonable controls can add 10–20% to construction costs [44].

6.6. Sparta, NJ and similar mining communities

The Southdown marble quarry located a few miles from Sparta, New Jersey became locked in a legal battle with the community in 2000 over whether the mine was releasing asbestos in the air [159]. The quarry had been in operation for almost 100 years and the workings were associated with very low levels of tremolite cleavage fragments. The issues ranged from differing scientific reports concerning the possible presence of tremolite fibers, debate about conflicting state and federal standards for the definition and measurement of asbestos, debate among doctors as to what size fibers are hazardous, and differing attitudes among the town's newcomers and long time residents, many of whom had worked at the quarry [159,160]. The quarry was eventually fined \$246,350 for violations of state and federal air pollution laws and regulations and was required to implement a dust management plan, which included installation of asbestos monitoring devices, with an estimated cost of \$700,000 [99,159]. The EPA and the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, using a panel of recognized experts in asbestos measurement and risk assessment, developed a work plan for measuring asbestos contamination from the quarry using TEM [50]. The peer-reviewed plan recognized a method for sorting asbestos and cleavage fragments into different categories and this allowed separate risk estimates to be refined [161]. According to Ilgren, no reliable scientific evidence was ever reported to indicate an attributable risk of asbestos-related disease in either the workforce or the residents of the town of Sparta [24].

Ilgren reviewed studies involving a variety of mining communities, including taconite, talc, gold, dolomite limestone, vermiculite, and copper mines, where workers and nearby residents may have been exposed to trace levels of amphibole cleavage fragments that were present as impurities within the main mining product of interest [24]. These studies included taconite mining towns in Minnesota where the taconite (a low grade iron ore) typically had elevated levels of grunerite cleavage fragments and various talc mines in New York, Vermont, Italy, and Norway where the talc contained substantial levels of tremolite cleavage fragments. The taconite and various talc mining studies concluded that the permeation of the residential areas near the mines by non-fibrous amphibole cleavage fragments did not result in a pandemic of asbestos-related disease among workers or residents. These studies also demonstrated that not all occurrences of amphibole minerals are necessarily a public health hazard.

7. Benefits of a national NOA public policy

NOA has existed in the environment for millions of years. However, asbestos, whether it exists naturally in the ground or in manufactured products, is still asbestos and poses a serious potential health hazard if released into the air. The nation should develop a rational NOA public policy that is based on scientific, engineering, and medical principles to ensure that the public health is properly protected. The ultimate consequence of not correcting the current issues and controversies discussed above surrounding proper NOA identification and exposure risk will be inaccurate environmental asbestos concentrations and scientifically inaccurate risk assessments, which will mistakenly alarm the public and adversely impact local government bodies and economies. Conversely, underestimation of asbestos levels and/or risk can result in failures to protect the public health. Good regulatory policies must weigh the health risks of action and inaction as well as the financial costs. Overregulation and flawed public policies based on incorrect science can be extremely costly, address minimal health risk, and divert attention from more socially important endeavors. Public funds misdirected towards unnecessary mitigation efforts will have a negative impact on local government's ability to provide quality educational facilities and other important social programs and services.

Common sense regulations such as those employed by the county government of Fairfax, Virginia, can serve as a model for using science as a basis for risk management decisions to control mineral dust exposures to the public, while still allowing commercial land development and mining activities. In the past, public panic has been fueled by unsupported concepts, such as the "one fiber theory," which maintains that one fiber of inhaled asbestos will cause cancer. An adult male, breathing at a resting rate, will breathe in one million fibers/year using the background asbestos concentration reported in the NAS 1984 report on non-occupational exposure to asbestos [38]. Or, as an extreme, under the currently accepted IRIS risk model, if a person breathes a single asbestos fiber over his lifetime, there is a calculatable risk for that exposure. However, the scientific and medical information available does not justify the claim that exposure to any amount of any asbestos fiber presents an unacceptable health risk [162]. If such a claim were true, all rocks and soil containing any concentration of any type of fibrous mineral would be regulated, and thus prevent mining or other commercial development of vast areas of valuable land. It obviously is not necessary or cost-effective to mitigate every stretch of land that contains some trace level of NOA. NOA public policy should

recognize and assess the risks of using our land and its natural resources and implement control measures without putting unfounded fear into the population. Legal reform and education of the media and general public are needed to bring a scientific basis to public policies regarding exposure to NOA.

The development of an effective NOA policy that protects the public health, but also allows for the proper use of scarce land and optimum utilization of other marginal public resources, is essential for the United States to maintain a sustainable economy in the face of a growing population. Achieving this formidable goal will require greater cooperation between the scientific, health, and regulatory communities. There is an urgent need for the Federal government and the EPA to commission a comprehensive, independent, national review of the science addressing the definitions and measurement of NOA so the nation can develop an accurate standardized risk assessment method to ensure that the public health is protected and unwarranted economic chaos is avoided. A national peer-reviewed study would be the most effective way to: (1) establish a consensus among the medical community as to the health effects of asbestos and non-asbestiform minerals, particularly in mixed mineral dust environments; and (2) develop reliable analytical testing methods for NOA that are reproducible, follow sound scientific and laboratory practices, and result in remediation actions that are only conducted when they are truly necessary. Successful models for such a national NOA review can be taken from the work of the previous EPA supported asbestos-related working groups from the Health Effects Institute, which has a 25 year history of working with EPA on a variety of issues effecting public health, and the National Academy of Sciences. Failure to commission a scientific analysis of NOA will compromise the public health and negatively impact government and commercial interests in large areas of the United States for many years to come.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge the National Stone, Sand & Gravel Association for support of this work.

References

- J.P. Clinkenbeard, R.K. Churchill, K. Lee (Eds.), Guidelines for Geologic Investigations of Naturally Occurring Asbestos in California, California Department of Conservation, California Geological Survey, Sacramento, CA, 2002 (Special Publication 124).
- [2] M. Ross, R.P. Nolan, History of asbestos discovery and use and asbestosrelated disease in context with the occurrence of asbestos within ophiolite complexes, Special Paper 373, in: Y. Dilek, S. Newcomb (Eds.), Ophiolite Concept and the Evolution of Geological Thought, Geological Society of America, Boulder, Colorado, 2003, pp. 447–470.
- [3] R.L. Virta, Some Facts About Asbestos, USGS Fact Sheet No. FS-012-01, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia, 2001.
- [4] P. Gross, D.C. Braun, Toxic and Biomedical Effects of Fibers—Asbestos, Talc, Inorganic Fibers, Man-made Vitreous Fibers, and Organic Fibers, Noyes Publications, Park Ridge, New Jersey, 1984.
- [5] I.J. Selikoff, D.H.K. Lee, Asbestos and Disease, Academic Press, New York, NY, 1978.
- [6] National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Asbestos Publications, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Cincinnati, Ohio, June, 1992.

- [7] U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Occupational Exposure to Asbestos: Final Rule, Federal Register, 59 (1994) pp. 40964–41162.
- [8] M. Gunter, Asbestos as a metaphor for teaching risk perception, J. Geol. Educ. 42 (1994) 17–24.
- [9] H.C.W. Skinner, M. Ross, C. Frondel, Asbestos and Other Fibrous Minerals: Mineralogy, Crystal Chemistry, and Health Effects, Oxford University Press, New York, NY, 1988.
- [10] R.J. Kuryvial, R.A. Wood, R.E. Barrett, Identification and Assessment of Asbestos Emissions from Incidental Sources of Asbestos, prepared for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-650/2-74-087, September 1974.
- [11] E.J. McFaul, G.T. Mason Jr., W.B. Ferguson, B.R. Lipin, U.S. Geological Mineral Databases—MRDS and MAS/MILS, U.S. Geological Survey Digital Data Series DDS-52, U.S. Geological Survey, Washington, DC, 2000.
- [12] U.S. Census Bureau, Ranking of Census 2000 and Projected 2030 State Population and Change: 2000 to 2030, U.S. Census Bureau, Washington, DC, 2004.
- [13] Agency for Toxic Substances & Disease Registry, Naturally Occurring Asbestos Locations in the Contiguous USA and Alaska and the 100 Fastest Growing U.S. Counties, Department of Health and Human Services, ATSDR, Atlanta, GA, 2007.
- [14] P. Middendorf, R. Zumwalde, R. Castellan, Asbestos and Other Mineral Fibers: A Roadmap for Scientific Research, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, NIOSH Mineral Fibers Working Group, Washington, DC, February 2007.
- [15] G.P. Meeker, H.A. Lowers, G.A. Swayze, B.S. Van Gosen, S.J. Sutley, I.K. Brownfield, Mineralogy and Morphology of Amphiboles Observed in Soils and Rocks in El Dorado Hills, CA, U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2006-1362, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia, 2006.
- [16] Asbestos: in Report on Carcinogens, 11th Edition, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, January 31, 2005.
- [17] B.T. Mossman, J. Bignon, M. Corn, A. Seaton, J.B.L. Gee, Asbestos: scientific developments and implications for public policy, Science 247 (1990) 294–301.
- [18] A.G. Wylie, K.F. Bailey, J.W. Kelse, R.J. Lee, The importance of width in asbestos fiber carcinogenicity and its implications for public policy, Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 54 (1993) 239–252.
- [19] A. Churg, M. Corn, J. Craighead, J.M.G. Davis, E. Gaensler, J.B. Gee, E. Ilgren, M. Kuschner, A. Langer, R. Lee, B. Mossman, R. Murray, M. Newhouse, R. Nolan, M. Ross, H.C. Skinner, J.C. Wagner, Scientists call for an end to the NYC asbestos scare, New York Times, September 23, 1993.
- [20] R. Wilson, A.M. Langer, R.P. Nolan, J.B.L. Gee, M. Ross, Asbestos in New York city public school buildings—public policy: is there a scientific basis? Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 20 (1994) 161–169.
- [21] M. Ross, The school asbestos abatement program: a public policy debacle, Environ. Geol. 26 (1995) 182–188.
- [22] M. Ross, Failed Policy on Asbestos Abatement, Washington Times, October 8, 1995.
- [23] R. Berg, When science crosses politics. I. The case of naturally occurring asbestos, J. Environ. Health 66 (2004) 31–39.
- [24] E.B. Ilgren, The biology of cleavage fragments: a brief synthesis and analysis of current knowledge, Indoor Built Environ. 13 (2004) 343–356.
- [25] J.F. Gamble, G.W. Gibbs, An evaluation of the risks of lung cancer and mesothelioma from exposure to amphibole cleavage fragments, Contained within Program and Abstracts for International Symposium on the Health Hazard Evaluation of Fibrous Particles Associated with Taconite and the Adjacent Duluth Complex, St. Paul, Minnesota, Sponsored by Minnesota Department of Health, Environmental Sciences Laboratory, Brooklyn College of The City University of New York, and International Environmental Research Foundation, New York, New York, March 30–April 1, 2003.
- [26] Environmental Protection Agency, Managing Asbestos in Place—A Building Owner's Guide to Operations and Maintenance Programs for

Asbestos-Containing Materials, U.S. EPA, Washington, DC, 1990 (Publication 20T-2003, July).

- [27] M. Germaine, Asbestos in play sand, correspondence, N. Engl. J. Med. 315 (1986) 891.
- [28] A. Schneider, C. Smith, Major Brands of Kid's Crayons Contain Asbestos, Tests Show, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, May 23, 2000.
- [29] A.M. Langer, R.P. Nolan, Asbestos in play sand, correspondence, N. Engl. J. Med. 316 (1987) 882.
- [30] U.S. Consumer Products Safety Commission, CPSC Staff Report on Asbestos Fibers in Children's Crayons, U.S. CPSC, Washington, DC, August 2000.
- [31] M.E. Beard, O.S. Crankshaw, J.T. Ennis, C.E. Moore, Analysis of Crayons for Asbestos and Other Fibrous Materials, and Recommendations for Improved Analytical Definitions, Research Triangle Institute, Research Triangle Park, NC, 2001.
- [32] S.Y. Lee, Lead paint, magnets are latest concerns, The Boston Globe, August 15, 2000.
- [33] B. Daley, Concerns raised on lead pipes, The Boston Globe, November 17, 2005.
- [34] Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, ToxFAQsTM for Lead, ATSDR, Atlanta, GA, 2007.
- [35] T.W. Clarkson, L. Magos, G.J. Myers, The toxicology of mercury—current exposures and clinical manifestations, N. Engl. J. Med. 349 (2003) 1731–1737.
- [36] S. Lindberg, R. Bullock, R. Ebinghaus, D. Engstrom, X. Feng, W. Fitzgerald, N. Pirrone, E. Prestbo, C. Seigneur, D. Mergler, A. Scheuhammer, H. Anderson, L. Chan, K. Mahaffey, M. Meyer, M. Murray, M. Sakamoto, M. Sandheinrich, A. Stern, E. Swain, P. Jakus, F. Lupi, P. Maxson, J. Pacyna, A. Penn, G. Rice, S. Spiegel, M. Veiga, J. Munthe, D. Bodaly, B. Branfireun, C. Driscoll, C. Gilmour, R. Harris, M. Horvat, M. Lucotte, O. Malm, Madison Conference Declaration on Mercury Pollution Eighth International Conference on Mercury as a Global Pollutant, Madison, WI, August 6–11, 2006.
- [37] Environmental Protection Agency, Protection of Environment, National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan, Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study and Selection of Remedy, EPA, Federal Registrar, vol. 26, 40 CFR 300 (2004) pp. 430.
- [38] National Academy of Sciences, Asbestiform Fibers: Nonoccupational Health Risks, National Academy Press, National Research Council, Washington, DC, 1984.
- [39] Health Effects Institute-Asbestos Research, Asbestos in Public and Commercial Buildings: A Literature Review and Synthesis of Current Knowledge, Health Effects Institute, Boston, MA, 1991.
- [40] D.W. Berman, Findings Concerning the RJ Lee Report, Letter to V.L. Barber, El Dorado County Office of Education, Placerville, CA, February 23, 2006.
- [41] D.W. Berman, K.S. Crump, Final Draft: Technical Support Document for a Protocol to Assess Asbestos-Related Risk, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA #9345.4-06, Washington, DC, October 2003.
- [42] B.T. Mossman, Assessment of the pathogenic potential of asbestiform vs. nonasbestiform particulates (cleavage fragments) in *in vitro* (cell or organ culture) models and bioassays, in: Proceedings of the International Symposium of the Health Hazard Evaluation of Fibrous Particles Associated with Taconite and the Adjacent Duluth Complex, St. Paul, MN, March 30–April 1, 2003.
- [43] Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Occupational Exposure to Asbestos, Tremolite, Anthophyllite and Actinolite, OSHA, Federal Registrar, vol. 57, No. 110, 29 CFR Parts 1910 and 1926, Docket No. H-033-d (1992) 24310.
- [44] C.J. Dusek, J.M. Yetman, Control and Prevention of Asbestos Exposure From Construction in Naturally Occurring Asbestos, Fairfax County Health Department, Air Pollution Control Division, Fairfax, VA, 2002.
- [45] C.J. Dusek, J.M. Yetman, Potential community exposure associated with construction in naturally occurring asbestos deposits, Paper 95-135.1, in: Air and Waste Management Association, 84th Annual Meeting and Exposition, Vancouver, British Columbia, June 16–21, 1991.
- [46] R.W. Varney, G.D. Bisbee, P.J. O'Brien, Guidance for Managing Asbestos Disposal Sites, New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services,

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services, NHDES-WMD-00-1, Concord, New Hampshire, 2000.

- [47] Public Review Draft, North Ridge Estates—RI/FS Work Plan, Parametrix, Portland, Oregon, April 26, 2006.
- [48] Environmental Protection Agency, Naturally Occurring Asbestos in El Dorado Hills: Questions and Answers, U.S. EPA, Region 9, San Francisco, CA, 2004.
- [49] D.W. Berman, Asbestos measurement in soils and bulk materials: sensitivity, precision, and interpretation—you can have it all, in: M.E. Beard, H.L. Rook (Eds.), Advances in Environmental Measurement Methods for Asbestos, ASTM STP 1342, American Society for Testing and Materials, 2000, pp. 70–89.
- [50] P. Lioy, M. Lippman, W. Berman, A. Stern, C. Pietarinen, J. Held, M. Kantz, M. Maddaloni, J. Brownlee, Workplan for Assessing the Exposures and Risks Posed by the Presence of Asbestos and Other Biologically Relevant Structures in Marble Mined at the Southdown Quarry in Sussex County, New Jersey, Environmental Protection Agency and New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Trenton, New Jersey, 2000.
- [51] X. Pan, H.W. Day, W. Wang, L.A. Beckett, M.B. Schenker, Residential Proximity to Naturally Occurring Asbestos and Mesothelioma Risk in California, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 172 (2005) 1019–1025.
- [52] University of California at Davis, On the Asbestos Trail, Synthesis, Fall/Winter 2006, U.C. Davis Cancer Center, Sacramento, CA, 2006.
- [53] C.A. Brodkin, J.R. Balmes, C.A. Redlich, M.R. Cullen, Residential proximity to naturally occurring asbestos: health risk or ecologic fallacy? Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 173 (2006) 573–574.
- [54] M.A. Kelsh, D.W. Berman, A.M. Langer, Residential proximity to naturally occurring asbestos and mesothelioma risks: further consideration of exposure misclassification and occupational confounding, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 174 (2006) 1400–1401.
- [55] Asbestos Exposure: How Risky is It? American Council on Science and Health, ACSH, New York, NY, 2007.
- [56] S. Metintas, M. Metintas, I. Ucgun, U. Oner, Malignant mesothelioma due to environmental exposure to asbestos: follow-up of a Turkish cohort living in a rural area Chest 122 (2002) 2224–2229.
- [57] Environmental Protection Agency, U.S. EPA Asbestos Assessment for El Dorado Hills, U.S. EPA Region 9, San Francisco, CA, 2005.
- [58] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS), Toxicological Review of Asbestos, U.S. EPA, Office of Research and Development, National Center for Environmental Assessment, Washington, DC, http://www.epa.gov/iris/subst/0371.htm.
- [59] D.W. Berman, K.S. Crump, Final Draft: Technical Support Document for a Protocol to Assess Asbestos-Related Risk, Prepared for Mark Follensbee, Syracuse Research Corporation, Syracuse, New York and the Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, 2003 (limited revision draft) http://www.aeolusinc.com/Protocol_TBD_2003.pdf.
- [60] D. Bieber, B.R. Hilton, E. Hubbard, W. Mitchell, D. Sederquist, Naturally Occurring Asbestos: An Introduction, Geotimes, Energy and Resources Column, March 2003.
- [61] L. Hofmann, A. Treinies, Asbestos Activities in EPA, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, presented at the Asbestos Mechanisms of Toxicity Workshop, Chicago, IL, June 12–13, 2003.
- [62] E.D. Kuempel, L.T. Stayner, J.D. Dement, S.J. Gilbert, M.J. Hein, Fiber Size-Specific Exposure Estimates and Updated Mortality Analysis of Chrysotile Asbestos Textile Workers presented at Society of Toxicology, San Diego, California, March 6, 2006.
- [63] Eastern Research Group, Report on the Peer Consultation Workshop to Discuss a Proposed Protocol to Assess Asbestos-Related Risk, Final Report, Prepared by Eastern Research Group, Lexington, Massachusetts for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, EPA Contract No. 68-C-98-148, Work Assignment 2003-05, Washington, DC, May 30, 2003.
- [64] D.W. Berman, K.S. Crump, The Effects of time and exposure concentration on asbestos-induced lung cancer and mesothelioma, Crit. Rev. Toxicol., submitted for publication.

- [65] D.W. Berman, K.S. Crump, Update of potency factors for asbestos-related lung cancer and mesothelioma, Crit. Rev. Toxicol., submitted for publication.
- [66] D.W. Berman, K.S. Crump, New metrics for assessing asbestos-related cancer risk that address fiber size and mineral type, Crit. Rev. Toxicol., submitted for publication.
- [67] B.S. Van Gosen, Reported Historic Asbestos Mines, Historic Asbestos Prospects, and Natural Asbestos Occurrences in the Eastern United States, U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2005-1189, Version 2.0, 2005.
- [68] B.S. Van Gosen, Reported Historic Asbestos Mines, Historic Asbestos Prospects, and Natural Asbestos Occurrences in the Central United States, U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2006-1211, Version 1.0, 2006.
- [69] R.K. Churchill, C.T. Higgins, R. Hill, Areas More Likely to Contain Natural Occurrences of Asbestos in Western El Dorado County, California, Open-File Report 2000-02, California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology, Sacramento, CA, 2000.
- [70] R.K. Churchill, R.L. Hill, A General Location Guide for Ultramafic Rocks in California—Areas More Likely to Contain Naturally Occurring Asbestos, Open-File Report 2000-19, California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology, Sacramento, CA, 2000.
- [71] C.T. Higgins, J.P. Clinkenbeard, Relative Likelihood for the Presence of Naturally Occurring Asbestos in Placer County, California, Special Report 190, California Department of Conservation, California Geological Survey, Sacramento, CA, 2006.
- [72] C.T. Higgins, J.P. Clinkenbeard, Relative Likelihood for the Presence of Naturally Occurring Asbestos in Eastern Sacramento County, California, Special Report No. 192, California Department of Conservation, California Geological Survey, Sacramento, CA, 2006.
- [73] R.L. Virta, Worldwide Asbestos Supply and Consumption Trends from 1900 to 2003, Circular 1298, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA, 2006.
- [74] California Air Resources Board, Asbestos Airborne Toxic Control Measure for Construction, Grading, Quarrying, and Surface Mining Operations, Final Regulation Order, Regulatory Text, 17 CCR 93105, July 29, 2002.
- [75] Environmental Protection Agency, Environmental Asbestos Assessment Manual; Superfund Method for the Determination of Asbestos in Ambient Air; Part 1: Method, EPA/540/2-90-005a, May 1990.
- [76] International Organization for Standardization, Ambient Air Determination of Asbestos Fibres – Direct-Transfer Transmission Electron Microscopy Method, first ed., Geneva, Switzerland, Method ISO 10312, May 1, 1995.
- [77] R. Haney, K. Fields, D. Tomko, W. Pomroy, C. Findlay, Environmental Dust and Fiber Investigation, Northshore Mining Company, Pittsburgh Safety and Health Technology Center, Mine Safety and Health Administration, April 26–27, 2005 and May 24–25, 2007.
- [78] R.C. Wilmoth, B.A. Hollett, J.R. Kominsky, R.W. Freyberg, D.D. Ellcessor, D.M. Quetin, P.J. Clark, K.A. Brackett, C.A. Hary, Ambient Air Monitoring at the Moss Landing Harbor District: Moss Landing, California, US Environmental Protection Agency, EPA Contract No. 68-D2-0058, October 17, 1990.
- [79] D. Baxter, R. Ziskind, R. Shokes, Ambient Asbestos Concentrations in California, vols. I and II, Final Report, Submitted by Science Applications, Inc. to California Air Resources Board, December 1, 1983.
- [80] W.H. Walton, The nature, hazards, and assessment of occupation exposure to airborne asbestos dust: a review, Ann. Occup. Hyg. 25 (1982) 115–247.
- [81] G. Yamate, S.C. Agarwal, R.D. Gibbons, Methodology for the Measurement of Airborne Asbestos by Electron Microscopy, IIT Research Institute, Contract No. 68-02-3266, July 1984.
- [82] National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods, Asbestos by TEM, Method 7402, May 15, 1989.
- [83] D.T. Crane, Polarized Light Microscopy of Asbestos, Occupational Safety and Health Administration Analytical Methods Manual, Method ID-191, October 21, 1992.
- [84] R.L. Perkins, B.W. Harvey, Method for the Determination of Asbestos in Bulk Building Materials, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA/600/R-93/116, 1993.

- [85] American Society for Testing and Materials, D-22 Proposal, P 236, Proposed Test Method for Asbestos Containing Materials by Polarized Light Microscopy, ASTM, Gray Pages, 1993, pp. 873–878.
- [86] National Institutes of Standards and Technology, Standard Reference Material 1867a, Certificate of Analysis, 2003.
- [87] A.G. Wylie, Discriminating amphibole cleavage fragments from asbestos: rationale and methodology, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, in: VIIth International Conference, Pittsburgh, PA, 1990, pp. 1065–1069.
- [88] J.R. Millette, B.R. Bandli, Asbestos identification using available standard methods, Microscope 53 (2005) 179–185.
- [89] National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Manual of Analytical Methods, Asbestos and Other Fibers by PCM, NIOSH 7400, Issue 2, August 15, 1994.
- [90] NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods, vol. 1, second ed., P&CAM 239, U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Publication (NIOSH) 77-157-A, 1977.
- [91] M.E. Berndt, W.C. Brice, Reserve mining and the asbestos case, Contained within Program and Abstracts for International Symposium on the Health Hazard Evaluation of Fibrous Particles Associated with Taconite and the Adjacent Duluth Complex, St. Paul, Minnesota, Sponsored by Minnesota Department of Health, Environmental Sciences Laboratory, Brooklyn College of The City University of New York, and International Environmental Research Foundation, New York, New York, March 30–April 1, 2003.
- [92] Interim Transmission Electron Microscopy Analytical Methods Mandatory and Nonmandatory – And Mandatory Section to Determine Completion of Response, Federal Register, 52, pp. 41857–41897, October 30, 1987.
- [93] H.J. Paulus, Standard impinger sampling and counting technique, sampling and counting dust, in: Fifth Annual Meeting of the National Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists, B7, 1942, pp. 1–7.
- [94] H.E. Ayer, J.R. Lynch, J.H. Fanney, A Comparison of impinger and membrane filter techniques for evaluating air samples in asbestos plants, Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 132 (1965) 274–287.
- [95] G.H. Edwards, J.R. Lynch, The method used by the U.S. public health service for enumeration of asbestos dust on membrane filters, Ann. Occup. Hyg. 11 (1968) 1–6.
- [96] J. Martonik, E. Nash, E. Grossman, The history of OSHA's asbestos rulemakings and some distinctive approaches that they introduced for regulating occupational exposure to toxic substances, Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 62 (2001) 208–217.
- [97] A.G. Wylie, R.L. Virta, E. Russek, Characterizing and discriminating airborne amphibole cleavage fragments and amosite fibers: implications for the NIOSH method, Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 46 (1985) 197–201.
- [98] K.F. Bailey, Impact on aggregates of regulating nonasbestos minerals as asbestos, Mining Eng. (1988) 1024–1030.
- [99] K.F. Bailey, Naturally occurring asbestos issues in the aggregates industry: fact and fiction, Mining Eng. 56 (2004) 33–38.
- [100] D.W. Berman, Evaluation of the Approach Recently Proposed for Assessing Asbestos- Related Risk in El Dorado County, California, Prepared at the request of the National Stone, Sand, and Gravel Association, Recorded on Docket No. EPA-HQ-ORD-2003-0016-0076, June 30, 2006.
- [101] American Society for Testing and Materials D 7200-06, Standard Practice for Sampling and Counting Airborne Fibers, Including Asbestos Fibers, in Mines and Quarries, by Phase Contrast Microscopy and Transmission Electron Microscopy, ASTM Committee, D22, June 1, 2006.
- [102] A.V. Samudra, C.F. Harwood, J.D. Stockham, Electron Microscope Measurement of Airborne Asbestos Concentrations: A Provisional Methodology Manual, US Environmental Protection Agency, Report EPA 600/2-77-178, August 1977.
- [103] E.J. Chatfield, Measurement of Asbestos Fibre Concentrations in Ambient Atmospheres, Study Series, No. 10, The Royal Commission on Matters of Health and Safety Arising from the Use of Asbestos in Ontario, Ontario, Canada, 1983.
- [104] A.P. Middleton, Visibility of fine fibres of asbestos during routine electron microscopical analysis, Ann. Occup. Hyg. 25 (1982) 53–62.

- [105] R.T. Dehoff, F.N. Rhines, Quantitative Microscopy, McGraw-Hill, New York, NY, 1968.
- [106] American Society for Testing and Materials, Standard Test Method for Microvacuum Sampling and Indirect Analysis of Dust by Transmission Electron Microscopy for Asbestos Mass Surface Loading, ASTM D5756, 2002.
- [107] J. Goldstein, D. Newbury, D. Joy, C. Lyman, P. Echlin, E. Lifshin, L. Sawyer, J. Michael, Scanning Electron Microscopy and X-ray Microanalysis, third ed., Springer Science and Business Media Inc., New York, NY, 2003.
- [108] D.B. Williams, C.B. Carter, Transmission Electron Microscopy: A Textbook for Materials Scientists, Springer, New York, NY, 1996.
- [109] P.J. Breton, From microns to nanometers: early landmarks in the science of scanning electron microscope imaging, Scanning Microsc. 13 (1999) 1–6.
- [110] R.J. Lee, J.S. Lally, R.M. Fisher, Identification and counting of mineral fragments, National Bureau of Standards Special Publication 506, in: Proceedings of the Workshop on Asbestos: Definitions and Measurement Methods held at National Bureau of Standards, Gaithersburg, Maryland, July 18–20, 1977.
- [111] J.E. Chisholm, Discrimination between Amphibole Asbestos Fibres and Non-asbestos Mineral Fragments, Project Report Ir/L/MF/95/16, Health and Safety Laboratory, Broad Lane, Sheffield S3 7HQ, 1995.
- [112] T. Hartikainen, A. Tossavainen, Quantification of silicate fiber concentrations in rock products and dusts by electron microscopy, Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 58 (1997) 264–269.
- [113] M. Dorling, J. Zussman, Characteristics of Asbestiform and Non-Abestiform Calcic Amphiboles, vol. 20, Elsevier Science Publishers V.B., The Netherlands, Lithos, 1987, pp. 469–489.
- [114] G.P. Meeker, A.M. Bern, I.K. Brownfield, H.A. Lowers, S.J. Sutley, T.M. Hoefen, J.S. Vance, The composition and morphology of amphiboles from the rainy creek complex, near Libby, Montana, Am. Mineral. 88 (2003) 1955–1969.
- [115] International Organization for Standardization, Ambient air Determination of Numerical Concentration of Inorganic Fibrous Particles, Scanning Electron Microscopy Method, Geneva, Switzerland, Method ISO 14966:2002(E), November 15, 2002.
- [116] World Health Organization, Environmental Health 4, Reference Methods for Measuring Airborne Manmade Mineral Fibres, WHO, Geneva, 1985.
- [117] Guideline VDI 3492 Part 1:1991-08, Measurement of Inorganic Fibrous Particles in Ambient Air, Scanning Electron Microscopy Method, Berlin, Beuth Verlag, 1991.
- [118] Guideline VDI 3492 Part 2:1994-06, Indoor Air Pollution Measurement, Measurement of Inorganic Fibrous Particles, Measurement Planning and Procedure, Scanning Electron Microscopy Method, Berlin, Beuth Verlag, 1994.
- [119] P. Frasca, R. De Malo, J. Newton (EMSL Analytical, Inc.), Goldale, M. (USEPA, Region 8), Asbestos Analysis of Soil by Scanning Electron Microscopy and Energy Dispersive X-Ray Spectroscopy, Standard Operating Procedure, No. EPA-Libby-01, July 11, 2000.
- [120] R.J. Lee, G.A. Bowman, B.R. Strohmeier, D.R. Van Orden, Naturally Occurring Asbestos: An Alternate Analysis presented at 2006 Geological Society of America Annual Meeting and Exposition, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, October 22–25, 2006.
- [121] R.J. Lee, B.R. Strohmeier, Comments regarding: Asbestos and Other Mineral Fibers: A Roadmap for Scientific Research Presented at Public Meeting for Comment on Draft NIOSH Document Entitled Asbestos and Other Mineral Fibers: A Roadmap for Scientific Research, Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Washington, DC, May 4, 2007.
- [122] K.E. Harris, K.L. Bunker, B.R. Strohmeier, R. Hoch, R.J. Lee, Discovering the true morphology of amphibole minerals: complementary TEM and FESEM characterization of particles in mixed mineral dust, in: A. Méndez-Vilas, J. Díaz, (Eds.), Modern Research and Educational Topics in Microscopy, Formatex Microscopy Book Series, No. 3, vol. 2, Formatex Research Center, Badajoz, Spain, pp. 643–650, 2007.

- [123] M.E. Gunter, The polarized light microscope: should we teach the use of a 19th century instrument in the 21st century? J. Geos. Ed. 52 (2004) 34–44.
- [124] Interim Method for the Determination of Asbestos in Bulk Building Insulation Samples, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA Report 600/M4-82-020, 1982.
- [125] Title 40, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 763, Appendix A to Subpart F, Interim Method of the Determination of Asbestos in Bulk Insulation Samples, April 15, 1988.
- [126] M.E. Beard letter to S.A. Sasnett of the United States Environmental Protection Agency regarding: Definitions used to define Asbestos Fibers/Asbestos Cleavage Fragments/Aspect Ratios, November 3, 1992.
- [127] National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Asbestos (Bulk) by PLM, NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods, Method 9002, May 15, 1989.
- [128] New York Environmental Laboratory Approval Program, Polarized-Light Microscope Methods for Identifying and Quantitating Asbestos in Bulk Samples, NY ELAP, Certification Manual, Item 198.1, March 1, 1997.
- [129] California Air Resources Board, Determination of Asbestos Content in Serpentine Aggregate, CARB, Method 435, Sacramento, CA, June 6, 1991.
- [130] F.D. Bloss, Optical Crystallography, Mineralogical Society of America, MSA's Monograph Series, Publication #5, Washington, DC, 1999.
- [131] E. Steel, A. Wylie, Mineralogical characteristics of asbestos, in: P.H. Riordon (Ed.), Geology of Asbestos Deposits, Society of Mining Engineers of AIME, 1981, pp. 93–100.
- [132] J.R. Verkouteren, A.G. Wylie, Anomalous optical properties of fibrous tremolite, actinolite, and ferro-actinolite, Am. Mineral. 87 (2002) 1090–1095.
- [133] A.G. Wylie, J.R. Verkouteren, Amphibole asbestos from Libby, Montana: aspects of nomenclature, Am. Mineral. 85 (2000) 1540–1542.
- [134] M.E. Gunter, M.D. Dyar, B. Twamley, F.F. Foit Jr., S. Cornelius, Composition, Fe³⁺/Fe, and crystal structure of non-asbestiform and asbestiform amphiboles from Libby, Montana, USA, Am. Mineral. 88 (2003) 1970–1978.
- [135] B.R. Bandli, M.E. Gunter, A review of scientific literature examining the mining history, geology, mineralogy, and amphibole asbestos health effects of the rainy creek igneous complex, Libby, Montana, USA, Inhal. Toxicol. 18 (2006) 1–14.
- [136] R. Renner, U.S. EPA to revisit asbestos toxicity: just how toxic is amphibole asbestos? That's a question EPA needs to answer for Libby, Montana, and other sites, Environ. Sci. Tech., Online News, January 31, 2007.
- [137] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Phase 2 Study Data Summary Report for Libby, Montana, Environmental Monitoring for Asbestos, Evaluation of Exposure to Airborne Asbestos Fibers During Routine and Special Activities, U.S. EPA, Region 8, March 31, 2006.
- [138] R.J. Lee, D.R. Van Orden, in press.
- [139] B. Price, Asbestos exposure and health risks: Libby, Montana, Contained within Program and Abstracts for International Symposium on the Health Hazard Evaluation of Fibrous Particles Associated with Taconite and the Adjacent Duluth Complex, St. Paul, Minnesota, Sponsored by Minnesota Department of Health, Environmental Sciences Laboratory, Brooklyn College of The City University of New York, and International Environmental Research Foundation, New York, NY, March 30–April 1, 2003.
- [140] Department of Labor, Office of the Inspector General, Mine Safety and Health Administration, Evaluation of MSHA's Handling of Inspections at the W.R. Grace & Company Mine in Libby, Montana, MSHA, Report No. 2E-06-620-0002, March 22, 2001.
- [141] Department of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration, Measuring and Controlling Asbestos Exposure: Proposed Rules, Federal Registrar, 67 (2002) pp. 15134–15138.
- [142] California State Senate, Naturally-Occurring Asbestos: Who is Responsible for Protecting the Public Health, Joint Informational Hearing of the Senate Health Committee and Senate Environmental Quality Committee, California State Senate, Sacramento, CA, May 11, 2005.
- [143] Ecology and Environment, Inc., El Dorado Hills Naturally Occurring Asbestos Multimedia Exposure Assessment, El Dorado Hills, California:

Preliminary Assessment and Site Inspection Report, Interim Final, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 9, Contract No. 68-W-01-012, TDD No. 09-04-01-0011, Job No. 001275.0440.01CP, San Francisco, CA, 2005.

- [144] Environmental Protection Agency, U.S. EPA Asbestos Assessment for El Dorado Hills -U.S. EPA and ATSDR Hold Asbestos Meetings: Two Asbestos Reports to be Released, U.S. EPA Region 9, San Francisco, CA, May 2005.
- [145] RJ Lee Group, Inc., Evaluation of EPA's Analytical Data from the El Dorado Hills Asbestos Evaluation Project, RJ Lee Group, Inc., Monroeville, PA, 2005.
- [146] A.G. Wylie letter to W.C. Ford of the National Stone, Sand and Gravel Association regarding a review of the November 2005 report prepared by RJ Lee Group, Inc.: Evaluation of EPA's Analytical Data from the El Dorado Hills Asbestos Evaluation Project, December 5, 2005.
- [147] M. Ross, Review of the RJ Lee Report titled "Evaluation of EPA's Analytical data from the El Dorado Hills Evaluation Project" prepared for the National Stone, Sand and Gravel Association, Minerals Consultant, 1608 44th Street NW, Washington, DC, 2007.
- [148] A.M. Langer letter to W.C. Ford of the National Stone, Sand and Gravel Association regarding a review of the November 2005 report prepared by RJ Lee Group, Inc.: Evaluation of EPA's Analytical Data from the El Dorado Hills Asbestos Evaluation Project, December 14, 2005.
- [149] V.L. Barber, Executive Summary of Briefing Information Regarding Naturally Occurring Asbestos, El Dorado County, California, December 12–16, 2005.
- [150] M. Ross, The new Idria Serpentinite of California: a Toxic Rock, Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs, in: Geological Society of America Annual Meeting, 26, No. 7, Seattle, Washington, October 24–27, 1994, p. A320.
- [151] Five-Year Review Report for Atlas Asbestos Mine Superfund Site and Coalinga Asbetos Mine (Johns-Manville Mill) Superfund Sites, Fresno County, California, Prepared for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region IX, Contract No. 68-W-98-225/WA No. 215-FRFE-0934, Prepared by CH2MHILL, September 2006.
- [152] US Environmental Protection Agency, EPA Superfund Record of Decision: Atlas Asbestos Mine, EPA ID: CAD980496863, Coalinga, CA, July 19, 1989.
- [153] US Environmental Protection Agency, EPA Superfund Record of Decision: Coalinga Asbestos Mine, EPA ID: CAD980817217, Coalinga, CA, July 19, 1989.
- [154] D.M. Bernstein, J. Chevalier, P. Smith, Comparison of Calidria Chrysotile asbestos to pure tremolite: inhalation biopersistence and histopathology following short-term exposure, Inhal. Toxicol. 17 (2003) 1387–1419.
- [155] Environmental Protection Agency, Atlas Asbestos Mine Superfund Site: U. S. EPA to Conduct Risk Assessment at Clear Creek Management Area, U.S. EPA, Region 9, San Francisco, CA, 2004.
- [156] L. Suer, A. Den, J. Lane, D. Stralka, B. Brass, T. Moore, S. Ross, C. Ziegler, R. Braun, Assessment of human exposure to naturally occurring (unprocessed) asbestos at the clear creek management area, California, Paper 3–5, in: Proceedings of the 101st Annual Meeting of the Geological Society of America, Cordilleran Section Meeting, San Jose, CA, April 29, 2005.
- [157] Environmental Protection Agency, Naturally Occurring Asbestos (NOA) in California: Clear Creek Management Area, U.S. EPA, Region 9, San Francisco, CA, May 2006.
- [158] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Airborne Asbestos Health Assessment Update, EPA/600/8-84-003F, 1986.
- [159] R. Hanley, Anxieties Over Quarry Dust Split a Small New Jersey Town, The New York Times, August 12, 2000.
- [160] R. Markley, Suspect Identification, Rock Products, November 1, 2001.
- [161] D.W. Berman, Analysis and Interpretation of Measurements for the Determination of Asbestos in Core Samples Collected at the Southdown Quarry in Sparta, New Jersey, Prepared for Gaetano LaVigna, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2, New York, New York, November 12, 2003.
- [162] D.W. Berman, personal communication, June 30, 2007.